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• Mining commenced in April 2005

at the Lords Project in Sandstone

just 15 months after discovery.

Lord Nelson and Lord Henry

Mines officially opened at

Sandstone in August 2005.

• Troy’s attributable gold

production was 71,851 ounces.

• Annual Net Profit after Tax and

Minorities of A$8.7 million.

• Group cash and equivalent 

assets in excess of A$30 million 

as at 30 June 2005.

• Sixth annual dividend declared

with an increase to 6.5 cents 

per share, fully franked.

• High-grade Sertão Stage 5

discovery extends mine life 

at Sertão Mine in Brazil.

Mining commenced in 

May 2005.  

• Exploration success at the 

Antena Cluster, near the 

Sertão Mine identifies 

several satellite orebodies.

• Major new tenement holding

acquired in Mongolia with

prospectivity for gold and coal. 

Official Lords Mine Opening



The 2005 year demonstrated the growing financial strength and maturity of Troy as a

corporate entity and profitable gold miner as the Company produced its sixth consecutive

annual profit and lifted its dividend payment for the sixth successive year.  The fact that the

Company was able to achieve this, despite a 38% drop in net profit after tax and minorities to

$8.7 million, shows the strength of our balance sheet.

The fall in net profit was partly due to start-up delays at the Lord Nelson gold mine at

Sandstone due to objections being lodged against clearing permits which were finally

determined to be of a frivolous nature.  This was disappointing in light of the fact that the

Company had recorded a record first half-year profit of $8.3 million, which was a 100%

increase over the same period in the previous year.

This was the only dark cloud on what was another successful year for the Company marked by

the start of mining and official openings of the Lord Nelson and Lord Henry mines in Western

Australia and further exploration success with the discovery of the Stage 5 orebody adjacent to

the Sertão Mine in Brazil.

The total year’s profit was achieved from revenue of $54.6 million and gold production of

71,851 ounces. The fully franked dividend of 6.5 cents per share (up from 6.0 cents last year)

again emphasises Troy’s corporate philosophy of rewarding shareholders with strong returns

whilst being financially prudent.

I am delighted to report that your Directors are confident that gold production will lift to

100,000 ounces in the current financial year and we expect a significant increase in

profitability as a result.

In fact your Company has never been in a stronger financial position. We finished the financial

year with $30 million in cash reserves. We are debt-free and unhedged which is particularly

important in view of the rising gold price at the time of writing. We have added resources and

reserves to our inventory at both Sandstone and Brazil during the year.

C h a i r m a n ’ s  R e v i e w
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C h a i r m a n ’ s  R e v i e w CONTINUED

This means that Troy is well equipped to pursue growth through exploration and/or acquisition and the Lord Nelson and Sertão mines will provide

excellent cash flows. 

It is not very often that you get the chance to open two mines in the one day but that is what we achieved at Sandstone on 7 August 2005.  The

Lord Nelson Mine was opened by Mr Robin Woodbine Parish, a long-term Troy shareholder and Chairman of El Oro & Exploration Company plc in

the United Kingdom. The Lord Henry Mine was opened by Mr Henry Archer Clive, who has been a long time supporter of Troy and is in charge of

the Company’s European Investor Relations.

I would like to thank them and the other 185 guests (including local, interstate and overseas investors and shareholders, members of the press,

Troy employees and local dignitaries and citizens) for attending.

It is important to remember that these deposits were discovered by Troy’s exploration team only 15 months previously and the start of mining

reflects the success of the fast track approach the Company has taken to their development.  The development of these mines ensures the

profitability of the Company for the immediate future.

One of the important benefits of our success in the Sandstone District is that we have been able to kick-start the local community.  It is hard to

imagine that the town of Sandstone once had a population of nearly eight thousand people at the height of the gold rush at the start of the 1900s.

The population had dwindled to an official register of six people by 1991.

Our success has been able to breathe new life into the community and to commence mining we expanded accommodation for our work force from

44 to 100 rooms in the town.

It is our belief that the Company’s first duty is to make profits for its shareholders but to do it in such a way that it makes a real and lasting

contribution to the communities and countries in which we operate.  We also want to respect and look after the environments in which we operate

and nothing is more important to us than the safety and welfare of our workforce.

Finally, in looking towards the future, I reiterate that the higher grades we are achieving at our Sandstone operations and the Sertão Mine in Brazil

will lead to increased profitability.  But it is important for shareholders to be reminded of the quality of our exploration ground and our

commitment to this facet of our operations with an exploration budget of $6 million approved for the current year.

We maintain strong regional positions in areas of enormous potential in Australia, Mongolia and Brazil. For example, we have identified 18

regional targets in the Faina Greenstone Belt surrounding the Sertão Mine, which are the current focus of our regional exploration programme.  

In Mongolia, Troy has embarked upon a re-evaluation of its 15 project (1.25M hectare) exploration portfolio that will see our exploration effort

focused on low sulphidation epithermal gold, lode style gold, porphyry copper-gold and coal targets. 

In conclusion, I would like to thank shareholders for their continued support and our staff and consultants under Managing Director, Mr Ken

Nilsson, for the wonderful work they have done during the year.

JOHN L C JONES

Executive Chairman



Commencement of mining at the Lords Project follows a busy first half of the

financial year where resource definition drilling, geotechnical, hydrological and

metallurgical studies were conducted on the two deposits. These activities

enabled Troy to fast-track mine design and for Snowden Mining Industry

Consultants to estimate a Probable Reserve for the Lords Project of 2.00 million

tonnes @ 3.13g/t Au for 201,000 ounces of gold.

With the support and co-operation from government agencies and the Sandstone

Shire, Troy was able to gain all statutory approvals and commence development

of the Lords Project in less than 15 months from the discovery of the deposits. 

The current reserves from the Lords will ensure processing at the Sandstone Mill

for approximately 3.5 years. Additional ore from the Ladybird and Havilah

satellite deposits may also be introduced during this period to supplement the

Lords mining operation and, if plant processing rates remain unchanged, this will

add to the project life.

In anticipation of an expedient start-up at the Lords, Troy commenced upgrading

its main facilities early in 2005. At the Sandstone Mill, this work has included civil

construction for leach tanks, relocation of the administration, workshop and

stores buildings and construction of a new laboratory. Additional leach tanks

allowing for increased circuit residence time were also installed. The upgrade is

scheduled for completion in October.

The Sandstone camp was expanded in size to accommodate the increased work

force required for the Lords Project. 

Bulchina 
While mining ceased at the Bulchina Mine in April 2004, mineralised waste from

the stockpiles at Bulchina continued to be processed at the Sandstone Mill.

During the year, 503,752 tonnes grading 1.26g/t Au were treated to produce

19,148 ounces of gold at an average cash cost of $437 per ounce. Treatment of

the Bulchina stockpiles continued until higher grade mill feed from the Lord

Nelson operation became available in August. 

The Company maintained its outstanding site safety record and had no

reportable environmental accidents or incidents during the year.

M i n i n g

AUSTRALIA

Sandstone Operations
(Troy 100%)

Lords Project

Mining commenced at Lord Nelson in

April 2005 and mining at Lord Henry

is scheduled for October 2005.

Treatment of the Lord Nelson ore at

the Sandstone Mill commenced in

August 2005. Some 185 invitees

attended a ceremony on site to

officially open the mines on 7 August. 

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 5 5
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M i n i n g CONTINUED

BRAZIL

Sertão Mine
(Troy 70% and Manager through Sertão Mineração Ltda, “SML”)

Mining at Sertão (Stages 1-4) was completed in December 2004, however stockpiled

ore continued to be treated at the Nilsson Mill during the second 

half of the year. The ongoing treatment of ore has resulted in 69,580 ounces of gold

produced from 98,820 tonnes of ore milled at an average head grade of 22.86g/t Au

in the 2004/05 year. The Sertão operation has performed better 

than budgeted and remained one of the world’s lower cost gold producers with

average production cash costs of A$129 per ounce (US$98) for the year. 

Sertão Mine

Mining Sertão Stage 5
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Up to 30 June 2005, the Project has produced 189,500 ounces of gold from

209,090 tonnes of ore milled at an average head grade of 29.0g/t and a

metallurgical recovery of 97%. This production has exceeded the original

estimated Sertão mine reserve model. 

SML maintained its high environmental, rehabilitation and safety record standards

and the Company’s ongoing commitment to staff training has seen major

improvements in staff capability and operational performance. The processing

plant performed at above budget availability and performance. 

The Company has continued to support health and education initiatives in the

local communities and retains an excellent relationship with all local landowners.

Sertão Stage 5
A new high-grade orebody (Stage 5) was discovered early in 2005 adjacent to

the southern limit of the completed Sertão Stage 1-4 pit. Detailed drill data

enabled Snowden Mining Industry Consultants to estimate a Probable Reserve of

54,500 tonnes @ 30.94g/t for 54,200 contained ounces of gold. SML commenced

open pit mining at Stage 5 in May 2005. The very high grade will ensure very low

cash cost production.

Presently there appears to be some scope to mine extensions to Stage 5 using

underground techniques, however, this potential remains to be fully assessed.

Elsewhere around the Sertão Mine, exploration is continuing to search for other

economic mineralised zones within the structurally complex mine geology

sequence. Drilling is currently focused on Stage 6, a recently discovered

mineralised zone immediately adjacent to the northern edge of the Sertão pit.

Antena Cluster
At the Antena Project, located approximately 20km NW from the Nilsson Mill,

mine designs were completed on the Antena, Antena View, Antena West, Antena

Sul and Xupé deposits. These deposits have an estimated total resource of

860,000 tonnes @ 2.12g/t for 58,700 contained ounces of gold which the

Company believes will provide additional mill feed to the Nilsson Mill. Xupé is

expected to be the first of the deposits that will be mined by open pit methods

early in 2006.

Sertão Stage 5 OrebodyMining Sertão Stage 5
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Development drill programmes completed over the Lords defined additional

shallow oxide and transition gold mineralisation that is amenable to open pit

mining. The positive results from this work enabled Troy to report a 10% increase

in the resource estimate for the Lords to 4.1 million tonnes @ 2.71g/t Au for

354,000 contained ounces in January 2005.

Lord Nelson
Importantly, at Lord Nelson, the development drilling also discovered another

zone of robust mineralisation termed the Central Lode in the hangingwall of the

high-grade primary East Lode. More investigative drilling is still required to

determine the geometry and extent of both primary Lodes below the current

design base of the Lord Nelson open pit. The Company is optimistic that once

mining exposes in-pit structural information relevant to these lodes, further

economic zones of mineralisation may be found.

Lord Henry
At Lord Henry, development drilling successfully extended the near-surface

supergene mineralisation a further 60m SW from the main mineralisation. This

work also evaluated the down-dip potential of the primary Main Lode in the

north-eastern portion of the deposit. Although significant gold mineralisation was

intersected in earlier drilling, later drilling demonstrated that the gold tenor

decreases in the primary ore lode below 60m vertical depth. The Company now

considers that the Lord Henry mineralisation is constrained and that an open pit

design is unlikely to extend beyond a vertical depth of 60m.

AUSTRALIA

Sandstone 

(Troy 100%)

The Sandstone project is Troy’s key

Australian exploration project and covers

1,300km2 of prospective greenstone and

granitoid rocks. Exploration activities at

Sandstone concentrated mostly on

resource drilling to fast-track mine

development at the Lord Nelson and Lord

Henry (“Lords”) gold deposits discovered

in January and February 2004. 
Steve Jones (Lords Project Manager) observing blasting at Lord Nelson Mine

Geoff Cheong (Mine Manager) 
at Lord Nelson Discovery Outcrop



Exploration drilling was conducted concurrently with the development drilling and focused along a 3.2km strike length of the

Trafalgar Shear between the Lords. The Trafalgar Shear is considered to be the primary mineralising structure and host to the

Lords gold deposits. Drilling tested geophysical and geochemical anomalies including several which had been identified

during the early work that led to the discovery of the Lords. Several sub-economic zones of mineralisation including the

Nelson South and Hamilton prospects were defined along the Trafalgar Shear and its associated secondary splay structures.

This portion of the Trafalgar Shear has now been adequately tested for additional economic shallow oxide deposits. 

Approximately 600m west of the Lord Henry deposit, drilling along another regionally significant WSW trending thrust fault

that hosts the historic Maninga Marley and Havilah gold mines intersected the high-grade Horatia gold shoot. Subsequent

work at Horatia returned other high-grade intersections including 5m @ 43.60g/t Au and confirmed that the supergene-

enriched quartz shoots are limited in strike and depth extent. The discovery of the Horatia mineralisation demonstrated that

this structure has the potential to host as yet, undiscovered zones of gold mineralisation. To help search for new ore shoot

positions along the structure, drilling and an Induced Polarisation (IP) survey covering a 3km length of the thrust fault between

Horatia and Havilah are planned. 

Regional Exploration
The intensity of Troy’s systematic evaluation of exploration targets along the soil-covered margins of the Sandstone

Greenstone Belt has increased since the completion of the development drilling at the Lords. The effectiveness of the

Company’s exploration techniques over these areas has been further enhanced by the acquisition of new aeromagnetic data.

The aeromagnetic data covers a number of priority targets in geological settings considered to be analogous to the Lords.

Although a final consultant’s interpretation of this data is pending, early evaluation of selected targets has commenced within

the Edale Structural Corridor some 3km east of the Trafalgar Shear. So far, encouraging low-grade gold anomalism has been

intersected in sheared mafic, ultramafic and granitic rocks. 

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 5 9
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E x p l o r a t i o n CONTINUED

Tennant Creek

(Troy 100%)

The Tennant Creek project in the

Northern Territory is another of

Troy’s larger Australian projects and

covers approximately 750km2 of gold

and copper prospective ground in

the historic Tennant Creek Goldfield.

Following a comprehensive historic

database compilation, detailed

gravity surveys covering six

prospective structural targets were

completed within the project and

generated two discrete gravity

anomalies (Bernborough and

Wilderness). Source modelling and

coincident ground magnetic surveys

indicate that the Bernborough

anomaly has the characteristics of a

classic Tennant Creek altered

ironstone gold target. Both targets

will be tested by drilling during

September 2005.

OTHER PROJECTS
Troy is funding exploration in several joint ventures within Western Australia. The joint ventures are part of the Company’s

strategy to increase its exposure to quality exploration properties in known gold districts. This year, Troy explored the

following projects in which it can earn equity.

Trojan JV

(Troy earning 60%)

The Woongaring Project covers a 30km long greenstone sequence approximately 140km NW of Southern Cross that has the

potential to host gold and nickel mineralisation. Reconnaissance drilling to test a 10km-long corridor of anomalous gold and

base metal soil geochemistry intersected two zones of coincident nickel and copper values associated with ultramafic rocks.

Fixed loop ground EM surveys are now planned to test for conductive nickel sulphides at each of anomalies. Elsewhere, soil

geochemistry surveys are progressively testing the 750km2 land holding for gold and base metal anomalies.

Yule River JV

(Troy earning 70%)

At the Yule River Gold Project located approximately 40km SW of Port Hedland, drilling defined a 9km long subtle gold,

copper, arsenic and lead anomaly along the regionally prominent north-trending Yule River Shear. This shear is interpreted to

be a splay from the Mallina Shear Zone which hosts the 0.5 million ounce Indee Gold Project 30km to the south. Closer

spaced drilling will be considered to test for zones of high-grade gold mineralisation within the defined geochemical corridor.

Tennant Creek

AUSTRALIAN EXPLORATION PROJECTS
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BRAZIL

Antena Cluster

(Troy 70%)

The principal exploration focus for

SML was the resource drilling at the

Antena Cluster of prospects (Antena,

Antena West, Antena View, Antena Sul

and Xupé). The Antena Cluster is

located approximately 20km NW from

the Nilsson Mill where Troy expects

several of the deposits will be mined

as satellite operations to the Sertão

Gold Mine. Based on the work

completed, Snowden Mining Industry

Consultants estimated Total Indicated

and Inferred Resources of 860,000

tonnes @ 2.12g/t Au for 58,700

ounces for the Antena Cluster. 

Drilling and Geological Mapping at Antena Cluster

Systematic exploration activities in the Antena Cluster evaluated the Antena Sul

and Xupé prospects, two of the larger zones of gold mineralisation. 

The Antena Sul and Xupé deposits lie between 1.3km and 1.8km SSW from

Antena where the gold mineralisation occurs in a deformed sequence of

metasedimentary rocks and quartzite. The higher grade gold veins at Antena Sul

are associated with disseminated pyrrhotite±pyrite±arsenopyrite mineralisation.

At Xupé, the gold mineralisation occurs over a strike length of 190m and within

35m of the surface. To assist with the search for new sulphide-associated ore

shoots and to better focus drilling at the Antena Cluster a dipole-dipole IP survey

has commenced over selected targets.

Statutory approvals to commence mining at the Antena Cluster have been

granted and agreements with local landowners reached for road access and

infrastructure development. Local government agreements are also in place to

carry out road works necessary prior to ore haulage to the Nilsson Mill.
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E x p l o r a t i o n CONTINUED

Goiás Velho Regional
Elsewhere in the 350km2 Goiás Velho

Project, SML has continued to

evaluate high priority regional

geochemical targets in the Faina

Greenstone Belt. Following an

independent review of the project’s

available geological, geochemical

and geophysical data, some 18 new

targets were prioritised for field

assessment. Many of the targets

occur in the under-explored northern

portion of the project. Initial drilling

has intersected encouraging

intersections at the Capoeirinha

West, Santa Rita, and Cachoeira

prospects. 

Regionally, further exploration

opportunities have also been

identified at some of the better

explored prospects within the

project. This highlights the need for

a more detailed approach to target

assessment by systematic geological

mapping, infill geochemical surveys

and RAB/aircore drilling along

auriferous gossan outcrops.

Although exploration has historically

focused on the Faina Greenstone

Belt, SML is now expanding its

exploration strategy to evaluate

landholdings in the Goiás Velho

Greenstone Belt located in the

southern half of the Goiás Velho

Project.

Brazilian Exploration Office

(Troy 100%)

Troy Resources’ Brazilian exploration division (“TBX”) has continued to identify

and assess exploration and mining opportunities within South America. Project

generation has included a comprehensive study of regional tectonic settings,

metallogenic occurrences, structural and lithologic settings within Brazil. This

work has resulted in TBX entering confidentiality agreements and data exchanges

with selected companies operating in South America.

GEOLOGY GOIÁS VELHO PROJECT

TBX Geologist Augusto Mol in rural Brazil



MONGOLIA

(Troy 100%)

Troy through its subsidiary Troy

Mongolia Alt Resources (TMAR) is

actively exploring 15 projects totalling

1.25 million hectares in Mongolia. 

The company has a fully staffed and

equipped exploration office based in

Ulaanbaatar that conducts 

exploration on the projects. 
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TMAR recently drill tested gold targets in NE Mongolia at Tsagaan Chuluut and

Nomgon Uul in SE Mongolia and completed geological mapping, rock chip

sampling, soil sampling trenching and channel sampling at the Tsagaan Chuluut,

Guutain Davaa and Dornogovi projects.

The company has also commenced re-evaluating its Mongolian project portfolio

that will see it focus exploration on low sulphidation epithermal gold, lode style

gold, porphyry copper-gold and coal targets. 

Dornogovi Project
TMAR’s largest and newest Mongolian project comprises eight exploration

licences covering 10,000km2 located NE of Ivanhoe Mining’s Oyu Tolgoi gold-

copper discovery in the central-eastern Dornogovi region. This area is

prospective for gold, coal and uranium mineralisation and is well positioned with

respect to existing infrastructure including the Beijing-Ulaanbaatar rail line.

Although the licences are only recently granted, TMAR has commenced field

work focused on evaluating epithermal gold mineralisation and high quality coal

occurrences in Permian and Cretaceous sedimentary basins. 

MONGOLIAN EXPLORATION PROJECTS ENLARGEMENT: DORNOGOVI PROJECT

RC Drilling at TC1 Dornogovi Project
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E x p l o r a t i o n CONTINUED

Tsagaan Chuluut and Nomgon Uul Projects
Drilling at Tsagaan Chuluut tested geochemical and geophysical targets at the TC1, Altan Chuluut and Zesiin prospects for

quartz vein hosted gold mineralisation within altered pyritic diorite and granitic rocks. At Nomgon Uul, drilling targeted the

down-dip extensions of outcropping sediment-hosted, Carlin-style gold mineralisation within a thrust faulted sequence of

mid-Palaeozoic sedimentary rocks and hematite-silica breccia. At both prospects, drilling intersected broad zones of low-

grade gold mineralisation. A full assessment of this data is underway. 

Guutain Davaa
TMAR has an option agreement to acquire an 80% interest in the Guutain Davaa project located approximately 270km NE of

Ulaanbaatar in northern Mongolia. The property owner is currently mining a 1.2km long high-grade gold placer however,

TMAR will focus primarily on identifying a bedrock source to the alluvial gold within the 6,000 hectare project. Geological

mapping has already identified a structure that hosts a strong sulphide altered and quartz veined ultramafic sequence and a

gabbroic intrusive beneath the placer workings. In addition to lode style gold mineralisation, TMAR is evaluating the property

for epithermal style breccia mineralisation. 

Tsagaan Chuluut Project

Baterdene Gendenjamtsyn (TMAR Gelologist) at Guutain Davaa Project



R e s e r v e s  a n d  R e s o u r c e s
As at June 2005

Notes to the Table
1. Allan Blair, Principal Consultant, Snowden Mining

Industry Consultants Pty Ltd (“Snowden”), has
compiled the reserve estimates for the Lord Nelson,
Lord Henry and Sertão Stage 5 deposits.

2. St Barbara Mines Ltd (“St Barbara”) is the manager of
the Cornishman joint venture and compiled the
Cornishman & Double O Resource estimate. 

3. Two Mile Hill, Eureka, Ladybird and Havilah Resources
estimated by Snowden total:  

Indicated: 1,002,000t @ 1.76g/t Au

(56,000 contained oz) and 

Inferred: 183,000t @ 2.40g/t Au

(15,000 contained oz)

Herald Resources Ltd (“Herald”) estimated Resources
for the Sandstone JV. This estimate remains
unchanged. 

4. Snowden classified the bulk block model 
(5mE x 10mN x 5mRL) for the Three Rivers Resource
estimate as:

Measured: 913,000t @ 1.49g/t Au 

and 

Indicated: 1,174,000t @ 1.40g/t Au  

Troy Resources NL (“Troy”) has reported Snowden’s
unclassified selective estimate (2.5mE x 10mN x
2.5mRL) as an Indicated Resource.  

5. Snowden confirms that the Lord Henry, Lord Nelson,
Sertão Stage 5, Antena Cluster, Three Rivers,
Ladybird, Havilah, Two Mile Hill and Eureka Reserves
and Resources accurately represent estimates
reviewed by Mrs Vivienne Snowden.  Mrs Snowden is
a full-time employee of Snowden and is a Fellow of
the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

Snowden also confirms that the Lord Henry, Lord
Nelson and Sertão Stage 5 stated Ore Reserves
accurately represent estimates prepared by Mr Allan
Blair. Mr Allan Blair is a full-time employee of
Snowden and is a Member of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

The Sandstone Joint Venture Resource estimates for
the Bulloak, Vanguard, Maninga Marley, Shillington,
Sandstone North, Plum Pudding and Oroya
underground projects were supplied by Mr Bernie
Kirkpatrick. Mr Kirkpatrick is a full-time employee of
Herald and is a Member of the Australasian Institute
of Mining and Metallurgy and a Member of the
Australian Institute of Geoscientists.

The Cornishman and Double O Resource estimates
are based on information compiled by Ms Jane
Bateman who is a full-time employee of St Barbara
and a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining
and Metallurgy. 

The Bellchambers Resource, Bulchina and Sertão ore
stockpile estimates have been reviewed by Mr Len
Skotsch.  Mr Skotsch is a full-time employee of Troy
and a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining
and Metallurgy.

Mrs Snowden, Ms Bateman and Messrs Blair,
Kirkpatrick and Skotsch have sufficient experience
which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and
type of deposits under consideration and to the
activity which each is undertaking to qualify as a
Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of
the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves”. Each consents to the
inclusion in the report of the matters based on their
information in the form and context in which it
appears.
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Gold Reserves
Grade Contained Troy’s Share

Deposit Tonnes g/t Au Ounces Contained 
Ounces

Lord Nelson 
(Probable) 1,480,000 3.33 159,000 159,000

Lord Henry
(Probable) 510,000 2.53 42,000 42,000

Bulchina
Ore Stockpiles (Probable) 397,000 1.20 15,000 15,000

Sertão 
Stage 5 (Probable) 55,000 30.94 54,000 38,000
Ore Stockpiles (Proven) 13,000 10.73 4,000 3,000

Total 2,455,000 3.48 274,000 257,000

Gold Resources (Inclusive of Reserves)

Lord Nelson 
Indicated 2,330,000 3.12 234,000 234,000
Inferred 90,000 2.17 6,000 6,000

Lord Henry
Indicated 1,650,000 2.01 107,000 107,000
Inferred 40,000 1.71 2,000 2,000

Bulchina 
Ore Stockpiles (Probable) 397,000 1.20 15,000 15,000

Sertão 
Stage 5 (Probable) 47,000 38.27 57,000 40,000
Ore Stockpiles (Proven) 13,000 10.70 4,000 3,000

Antena Cluster
Indicated 658,000 2.21 47,000 33,000
Inferred 202,000 1.84 12,000 8,000

Cornishman & Double O
Indicated 1,070,000 3.03 104,000 51,000
Inferred 33,000 2.00 2,000 1,000

Three Rivers (Refer to Note 4)
Indicated 1,680,000 2.40 130,000 130,000

Sandstone 
Indicated 1,927,000 1.97 122,000 122,000
Inferred 538,000 1.90 33,000 33,000

Total 10,675,000 2.55 875,000 785,000

Reserves and Resources reported are above 1.00g/t Au cut-off, except for:

Cornishman &  
Double O Resources: 0.90g/t Au cut-off

Lord Nelson Reserves: 1.06g/t Au cut-off

Lord Henry Reserves: 1.27g/t Au cut-off

Sertão Stage 5 Reserves: 2.00g/t Au cut-off

Tonnes and ounces have been rounded to 1,000 and this may have

resulted in minor discrepancies.
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C o r p o r a t e  G o v e r n a n c e

This statement summarises the Corporate Governance policies and practices adopted by the Company. Troy’s objective is to

achieve best practice in Corporate Governance and the Company’s Directors and Officers are committed to meeting this

objective.

Additional information can be found on the Company’s website at www.try.com.au.

ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS
The Company supports the principles espoused in the “Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice

Recommendations” as issued by the ASX Corporate Governance Council in March 2003. Following that report, an extensive

review of the Company’s corporate governance framework was completed and changes and refinements made to Company

policies.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Role of the Board
The management and control of the business and affairs of the Company are vested in the Board of Directors. The Board sets

the direction and guides and monitors the business and affairs of the Company on behalf of shareholders, by whom the

Directors are elected and to whom they are accountable.

The primary functions of the Board include:

• developing and setting the Company’s strategic direction in conjunction with management;

• overall review of performance against targets and objectives;

• ensuring the Company has adequate systems and internal controls together with appropriate monitoring of compliance

activities; 

• approval and compliance with policies including health, safety and environment; and

• reporting to shareholders on the direction and performance of the Company.

Particular matters that are dealt with by the Board include significant investments, capital and funding proposals, senior

appointments and executive remuneration, financial results, performance and dividends, and issues relating to internal controls

and risk management.

Board Composition
The Board is comprised of four Directors, being two executive and two independent non-executive Directors. The Board

considers that the number of Directors is currently appropriate for the scope and size of activities currently being undertaken

by the Company. 

While the Board does not comprise a majority of independent Directors, the Board is of the view that it has an appropriate

balance between independent representation and maintaining sufficient relevant experience for the Board to fulfil its

objectives.

The chairman of the Company is also an executive and the CEO of the Company. The Board considers that the executive role

carried out by the Executive Chairman, Mr J L C Jones, is in the best interest of the Company. Mr Jones became Executive

Chairman in 1988 and has nearly 40 years relevant industry experience, and his knowledge of the Company and his role in

leading the Company through to its successes of recent years is, in the opinion of the Board, viewed positively by shareholders.

The Constitution of the Company allows for the Board to be up to nine members. A Director (other than the Managing

Director) may not retain office for more than three years without submitting for re-election. At the Annual General Meeting

each year, one third of the Directors in office retires by rotation and must be re-elected by the shareholders if they are to

continue as a Director of the Company.

The Board meets on an “as required” basis, but at least three times a year in person with additional meetings being held by

telephone hook-up. On average the Board meets approximately 12 times per year. The Board’s agenda is agreed by the

Executive Chairman in conjunction with the Managing Director and the Company Secretary. Directors receive reports on

financial and operational performance monthly and relevant additional papers for consideration in advance of each Board

meeting. Executives not on the Board are regularly involved in relevant Board discussions and Directors have opportunities,

both formal and informal, for discussions with employees. In consultation with the Executive Chairman or Managing Director,

Directors are able to access information directly from management.
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The Board has delegated responsibility for the operation and administration of the Company to the Executive Chairman and

the Managing Director who, with the executive team, are responsible to the Board.

The Managing Director is supported by senior executives and staff, and their primary focus is on the operational management

of the group.

Independent Professional Advice
All Directors have the right to seek independent professional advice concerning any aspect of the Company’s operations or

undertakings. Prior approval of the Chairman is required, but this is not to be unreasonably withheld. If the advice sought

concerns the Chairman or is related to the Chairman, then the approval can be provided by one of the independent directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee
The Company has had a formally established Audit Committee since 1998. The committee currently consists of Dr D E Clarke

(Committee Chairman) and Mr P A K Naylor, who are both independent, non-executive Directors. 

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to review:

(a) the Financial Statements of the Company;

(b) the effectiveness of management information systems and systems of internal control; and

(c) the efficiency and effectiveness of the external audit functions.

Remuneration Committee
Remuneration paid to Directors is set at a competitive level commensurate with the level of experience and qualification of the

Directors within the capacity of the Company to provide. The Company has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee

for the review of executive remuneration, including that of the executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee is composed

of Dr D E Clarke (Committee Chairman) and Mr P A K Naylor, who are both independent, non-executive Directors. The

remuneration of executives is formulated by the Remuneration Committee whose decisions are guided by industry conditions

and industry remuneration surveys. The remuneration of other employees is reviewed and recommended by the Managing

Director and ratified by the Committee and the Board.

The Board believes that the issue of options to employees is an important part of their salary package. Options allow

employees to participate in the ownership of the Company and allows the Company to supplement cash-based salary to

better compete for and retain skilled workers in the industry at a lesser cost to the entity.

Nomination Committee
A formalised Nomination Committee charter has been adopted to review the composition of the Board and to make

recommendations on any changes to the Board. The size of the Board allows for the activities of a Nomination Committee to

be carried out by the full Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board monitors and receives advice on areas of operational, financial, political and asset risk and considers strategies for

appropriate risk management arrangements. Specific areas of risk to the Company include foreign currency and commodity

price fluctuations, gold hedging strategies, tenement management, human resources, health and safety, the environment and

geographical and geopolitical locations. The Board has implemented written policies on gold and foreign currency hedging

which apply to group activities.

ETHICAL STANDARDS
The Board’s policy is that the Directors and management should conduct themselves with the highest ethical standards. All

Directors and employees are expected to act with integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and

performance of the consolidated entity. A formal policy has been adopted by the Board as a guideline for the ethical activities

of both the Company and of management.
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The Company is a voluntary signatory to the Australian Minerals Industry Code for Environmental Management. This includes

health, safety and environmental issues which should be of the highest standard and comply with the Company’s policies as

published in the manual “Environmental, Health, Safety and Community Report” and is available for review on the Company’s

website. These policies are applied on a Company wide basis in all geographical areas of activity, not just within Australia.

TRADING IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES
The Board has adopted a policy in relation to the trading in the securities of the Company and has distributed these

recommendations in written form to all employees of the Company. The circular to employees describes what constitutes

Insider Trading, the penalties for undertaking such activities and makes recommendations on when employees should not

trade in the Company’s securities.

CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE
The Board is committed to ensuring that trading in the Company’s securities takes place in an informed market such that

shareholders and the investment community has confidence in the quality, timeliness and integrity of information provided by

the Company.

In accordance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the ASX Listing Rules, the Company has procedures in place to

ensure that all price sensitive information is identified, reviewed and, where applicable, disclosed to the ASX and shareholders

immediately.

The Company occasionally makes presentations at conferences and briefings to shareholder and analysts. On these occasions,

the Company takes care to ensure that no price sensitive information is included, or it is released to the market prior to the

conference/briefing. Conference presentations are usually released to the ASX and also posted on the Company’s website.

RESPONSIBILITY TO SHAREHOLDERS
The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are informed on all major aspects and developments affecting the Company and

the Consolidated Entity. The Board distributes information via:

• continuous disclosure of information to the ASX;

• the Annual Report to shareholders;

• Quarterly Activities Reports;

• notices of meetings of shareholders;

• the “Troy Report” which is published and distributed usually twice a year;

• investor briefings and conference presentations;

• distribution to shareholders and other relevant bodies of the Company’s “Environmental, Health, Safety and Community

Report”; and

• all the above reports and other useful information are posted on the Company’s website on a timely basis.



ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS
The table below contains a list of each of the ASX Best Practice Recommendations and whether the Company has complied

with the recommendations during the financial year. Where the Company considers that it has diverged from these

recommendations, or that it is not practical to comply, there is an explanation of the Company’s reasons set out below the

table:

Complied Note

1.1 Formalise and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to management ✓

2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent directors ✗ 1

2.2 The chairperson should be an independent director ✗ 2

2.3 The roles of Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual ✗ 3

2.4 The Board should establish a Nomination Committee ✓ 4

2.5 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2 ✓

3.1 Establish a code of conduct to guide the Directors, the Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent), 

the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) and any other key executives as to:

3.1.1 the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity ✓

3.1.2 the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating 

reports of unethical practices ✓

3.2 Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, Officers and Employees ✓

3.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 3 ✓

4.1 Require the Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer 

(or equivalent) to state in writing to the Board that the Company’s financial reports 

present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s financial condition 

and operational results and are in accordance with the relevant accounting standards ✓

4.2 The Board should establish an Audit Committee ✓

4.3 Structure of the Audit Committee so that it consists of:

• only Non-Executive Directors ✓

• a majority of independent Directors ✓

• an independent Chairperson, who is not chairperson of the Board ✓

• at least three members ✗ 5

4.4 The Audit Committee should have a formal charter ✓

4.5 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 4 ✓

5.1 Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with 

ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements to ensure accountability at a senior 

management level for that compliance ✓

5.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 5 ✓
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Complied Note

6.1 Design and disclose a communications strategy to promote effective communication with 

shareholders and encourage effective participation at general meetings ✓

6.2 Request the external auditor to attend the Annual General Meeting and be available to 

answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 

content of the auditor’s report ✓

7.1 The Board or appropriate Board Committee should establish policies on risk oversight 

and management ✓

7.2 The Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) 

should state to the Board in writing that:

7.2.1 the statement given in accordance with best practice recommendation 4.1 

(the integrity of financial statements) is founded on a sound system of risk management 

and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board ✓

7.2.2 the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is 

operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects ✓

7.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 7 ✓

8.1 Disclose the process for performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and 

individual Directors, and key executives ✗ 6

9.1 Provide disclosure in relation to the Company’s remuneration policies to enable investors to understand

(i) the costs and benefits of those policies and

(ii) the link between remuneration paid to Directors and key executive and corporate performance ✓

9.2 The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee ✓

9.3 Clearly distinguish the structure of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration from that of Executives ✓

9.4 Ensure that payment of equity-based Executive remuneration is made in accordance with 

thresholds set in place approved by shareholders ✓

9.5 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 9 ✓

10.1 Establish and disclose a code of conduct to guide compliance with legal and other obligations ✓



1. Only two (Messrs Clarke and Naylor) of the four Directors are independent. Given the size and scope of the

Company’s operations, the Board considers that it is appropriately structured to discharge its duties in a manner

that is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders from both a long-term strategic and day-to-day

operations perspective. The Board is of the view that it has achieved an appropriate balance between independent

representation and maintaining sufficient relevant experience for the Board to fulfil its responsibilities.

2 & 3. The Chairman is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers that the executive role carried

out by the Chairman, Mr John Jones, is in the best interest of the Company. Mr Jones became Chairman and Chief

Executive of the Company in 1988. He has 40 years’ relevant industry experience, and his knowledge of the

Company and his role in leading the Company throughout a period of transition from a small exploration to

successful mining company in recent years is viewed positively by shareholders.

4. There is no separate Nomination Committee as a sub-committee. The functions to be performed by a nomination

committee under the ASX Best Practice Recommendations are currently performed by the full Board and this is

reflected in the written policy setting out the responsibilities of the Board. Having regard to the number of

members currently comprising Troy’s Board, the Board does not consider it appropriate to delegate these

responsibilities to a sub-committee of the Board. These arrangements will be reviewed periodically by the Board to

ensure that they continue to be appropriate to the Company’s circumstances.

5. The Audit Committee consists of only two members. The Audit Committee was formally introduced in 1998.

Given the composition of the Board (ie only two independent, non-executive members), the Board deemed it was

necessary that the composition of the Audit Committee be restricted to these two non-executive Directors to

ensure its independence from management. The Board considers that the committee as constituted properly fulfils

the objectives and responsibilities of an Audit Committee. The Board will continue to monitor the Company’s

position on the ASX All Ordinaries Index to ensure that the Company complies with the ASX’s Audit Committee

requirements.

6. Board performance evaluation is not disclosed. The performance of the Board is reviewed internally, but there are

no formal performance indicators that are applied to that review. Judgment of performance is based on many

factors including profitability, production levels and exploration success.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 5 21



22 T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L

D i r e c t o r s ’  R e p o r t

The Directors of Troy Resources NL present their annual financial report for the financial year ended 30 June 2005. In order to

comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:

DIRECTORS
The Directors, as listed below, were in office for the entire financial year. The names and particulars of the Directors of the

Company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Mr J L C Jones
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer AusIMM, AICD (aged 61)

A Director since July 1988 and Chairman of the Company since November 1988. He is a Kalgoorlie pastoralist and

businessman formerly associated with North Kalgurli Mines and was a founding director of Jones Mining Limited. Mr Jones is

also Chairman of Anglo Australian Resources NL (since 1990).

Mr K K Nilsson 
Managing Director B.Eng, Cert of Eng (aged 64)

Appointed Managing Director in May 1998 and has been the Company’s Chief Operating Officer since April 1997. He is a

mining engineer with more than 35 years experience in the mining industry, covering gold, base metals and coal.

Mr P A K Naylor
Non-Executive Independent Director MSDIA, ASIA (aged 69)

A Director of the Company since April 1984, a stockbroker and financial adviser with over 35 years experience. He is also

Chairman of New Privateer Holdings Limited (since 1982). Mr Naylor is a member of both the Audit and Remuneration

Committees.

Dr D E Clarke
Non-Executive Independent Director B.Sc (Hons), BA, PhD (Stanford), FAusIMM (aged 64)

Appointed 23 March 1999, Dr Clarke has a PhD in geology from Stanford University (California) and has more than 35 years

experience in exploration and mining, principally in Australia and North America, including 15 years with Plutonic Resources

Limited. He is also Chairman of Cullen Resources Limited (since 1999) and Beaconsfield Gold NL (since 2004) and a Non-

Executive Director of Anglo Australian Resources NL (since 1999). Dr Clarke is the Chairman of both the Audit and

Remuneration Committees. He was a Director of BeMax Resources NL from June 1999 to November 2003.

COMPANY SECRETARIES
The following persons acted as Secretaries of the Company during the entire financial year:

Mr G F Kaczmarek, B.Ec (Acc) ANU, CPA, MAICD. 

Mr Kaczmarek was appointed Company Secretary in June 1998. He has over 20 years experience in accounting and the mining

industry principally with CRA Limited (now RTZ) and Burmine Ltd.

Mr W H Hall, FCA. 

Mr Hall was appointed as joint Company Secretary in April 1996. He is a Chartered Accountant and has over 50 years

experience in accounting and secretarial affairs.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Troy Resources NL is a No Liability company which was incorporated in 1984 and is domiciled in Australia. The Company listed

on the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”) in 1987. The Company’s ordinary shares trade under ASX code “TRY” and partly

paid shares under ASX code “TRYCA”.

Additional Company information can be found in Note 40 to the Financial Statements.

Information on Controlled Entities and group structure can be found in Note 33 to the Financial Statements.



PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Consolidated Entity during the year were gold production through its wholly owned operations at

Sandstone in Western Australia, and the Sertão Mine in Brazil. Exploration activities, principally for gold, continued during the

year concentrating primarily on the Sandstone and Three Rivers Project Areas in WA and on project evaluation and exploration

in Brazil and Mongolia.

OPERATING RESULTS
The profit from ordinary activities before tax and minority interests for the year for the Group was $16,466,000 (2004:

$22,762,000). The net profit after tax and minorities for the year was $8,670,000 (2004: $14,052,000). The profit for the year was

after the allowance for $6,634,000 of exploration expenditure being written off (2004: $4,219,000), and depreciation and

amortisation of mining tenements of $8,523,000 (2004: $9,252,000). Profitability in the second half of the year was affected by

start-up delays of five months for the Lord Nelson Mine at Sandstone due to objections being lodged against clearing permits.

Such objections were finally determined to be of a frivolous nature and the permits were issued. Mining started on 28 April

2005 and treatment of ore commenced on 24 August 2005.  The mill treated mostly low-grade ore from stockpiles during the

year whilst awaiting ore to be available from the Lord Nelson mine.

Profit in the second half of the year was also affected by lower gold production from the Sertão Mine due to a lower average

grade which was partly offset by higher ore throughput. 

The earnings per share for the year were 15.8 cps on a nominal basis (2004: 25.7 cps) and 15.7 cps on a fully diluted basis (2004:

25.6 cps).

DIVIDENDS
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2005 the Directors have declared a final dividend of 6.5 cents per share, fully

franked (2004: 6.0 cents per share fully franked). The dividend will be paid on both the fully paid and partly paid shares as the

latter carry full dividend entitlements.

The record date for the dividend is 30 September 2005 and it will be paid on 14 October 2005.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The Consolidated Entity is engaged in gold production in Western Australia and Brazil, and gold and base metal exploration

and project evaluation in Australia and overseas.

Gold sales revenue totalled $54,641,000 for the year (2004: $85,077,000). During the year, $7,753,000 was incurred on

exploration expenditure and purchase of exploration tenements (2004: $4,100,000).

The Company’s total equity share of production for the 2004/05 year was 71,851 ounces of gold.

The wholly owned Bulchina Mine near Sandstone in Western Australia produced a total of 19,148 ounces for the year at an

average cash cost of A$437 per ounce, from the processing of 503,732 tonnes of ore at an average grade of 1.26g/t.

Production was primarily sourced from low-grade stockpiles.

The Sertão Project in Goiás State in Brazil (Troy 70%) produced 69,580 ounces of gold (Troy’s share 48,706 ounces) from the

treatment of 98,820 tonnes of ore at a head grade of 22.86g/t. The cash operating cost for the year was A$129 per ounce

(US$98 per ounce). 

The remaining Cornishman ore was treated early in the year and contributed 3,997 ounces of gold to the Company’s

production.

CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
During the financial year there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other than that

referred to in the Financial Statements and notes thereto.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 5 23



24 T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L

D i r e c t o r s ’  R e p o r t CONTINUED

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
There has not been any matter or circumstance, except for those matters referred to in Note 36 to the Financial Statements,

that has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of

the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in future financial

years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Mining commenced at the Lord Nelson mine in late April 2005 and mining is scheduled to commence at Lord Henry in

October. Ore from Lord Nelson is being transported to Troy’s Sandstone Mill where milling of this material commenced in late

August. This new ore source will provide a major boost to gold production from the Sandstone area.

At the Sertão Mine, mining commenced on the new Stage 5 ore shoot in June 2005 and this material was being treated from

the beginning of August 2005. Additional work is being undertaken around the immediate mine area to test for further

possible extensions to the Sertão orebody.

The forecast equity gold production for 2005/06 is 100,000 ounces. Directors also expect a significant increase in profitability in

2005/06 based on achieving higher grades and production levels from both Sandstone and Sertão. In forming this expectation,

Directors have not taken into account the demand received from the Goiás State Tax Department (see Events Occurring After

Balance Date item 36(b)), as no valid basis for this demand has been identified. 

At both Sandstone in Western Australia and the Faina Greenstone Belt in Brazil, regional exploration will continue on

numerous geological targets. The satellite Antena orebody in Brazil is likely to be developed in the 2005/06 year.

The group continues to pursue growth through exploration and acquisition of new projects.

SHARE ISSUES
During the year, 268,500 fully paid ordinary shares were issued due to the exercise of employee options and 300,000 fully paid

ordinary shares were issued as part consideration for purchase of mining tenements. In addition, 49,300 partly paid shares were

paid up to fully paid shares.

SHARE OPTIONS
During the financial year, 180,000 options over unissued shares were granted by Troy Resources NL under the Employee Share

Option Scheme. None of these were issued to Directors or any of the five most highly remunerated officers of the Company. A

total of 875,500 unissued shares are under option in Troy Resources NL at the date of this report at issue prices ranging from

$1.45 to $2.45. No person entitled to exercise any of these options had or has any rights by virtue of the options to participate

in any share issue of any related corporation. (Refer to Note 29 to the Financial Statements.) 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Company has signed a Deed of Access, Insurance and Indemnity with every Director of the Company against a liability to

another person, other than the Company or a related body corporate of the Company, provided that:

(a) the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (including, but not limited to, Chapter 2E) are complied with in relation to

the giving of the indemnity; and

(b) the liability does not arise in respect of conduct involving a lack of good faith on the part of the Director.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of an insurance policy covering the Directors of the

Company, the Company Secretaries and all executive officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a

liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The

amount of the premium paid on the policy was $20,050 (2004: $21,780).

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of

the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.



ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Consolidated Entity is committed to a high standard of environmental performance and during the year has not received

any fines or prosecutions under any environmental laws or regulations. The Consolidated Entity did not incur any reportable

environmental incidents during the year.

Troy Resources NL is a voluntary signatory to the Australian Minerals Industry Code for Environmental Management. 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The Directors attended Board Meetings held during the year as follows:

Meetings Held Meetings 

Director While a Director Attended

Mr J L C Jones 9 9

Mr P A K Naylor 9 8

Mr K K Nilsson 9 9

Dr D E Clarke 9 9

The Company has an established Audit Committee consisting of Dr D E Clarke (Committee Chairman) and Mr P A K Naylor,

both independent, Non-Executive Directors. The Audit Committee met twice during the year and both representatives

attended both those meetings.

The Company also has a Remuneration Committee consisting of Dr D E Clarke (Committee Chairman) and Mr P A K Naylor.

The Audit Committee met once during the year and both representatives attended that meeting.

INTEREST IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY AND RELATED BODIES CORPORATE
The relevant interest of each Director in the share capital of the Company as at the date of this report is:

Number of Fully Paid Shares Number of Partly Paid Shares Options

Director Beneficial Non-Beneficial Beneficial Non-Beneficial

Mr J L C Jones 919,000 7,664,209 103,800 1,792,225 -

Mr P A K Naylor 211,079 30,600 81,000 34,400 -

Mr K K Nilsson 160,000 - - - -

Dr D E Clarke 310,000 - - - -

REMUNERATION REPORT
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for Directors and executives of Troy Resources NL (“the

Company”).

Remuneration Philosophy
The performance of the Company is dependent upon the quality of its Directors and executives. To continue its growth, the

Company must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and executives.

Remuneration is set at a competitive level which is commensurate with the level of experience, skill, qualifications and duties of

the person and set within the Company’s capacity to pay.

Remuneration Structure
In accordance with corporate governance best practice, the structure and review of Non-Executive Directors and those of

executives, including Directors, is separate and distinct.

Non-Executive Director Remuneration
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules, the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive

Directors is determined from time to time by the Company’s shareholders at a General Meeting. The current determination

was made at the Annual General Meeting held on 17 November 1994 when an aggregate remuneration of $200,000 per annum

was approved, effective 1 July 1994.
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Remuneration Report Continued

The Executive Directors, in the absence of the Non-Executive Directors, determine an appropriate allocation of this aggregate

to be apportioned amongst the Non-Executive Directors. In determining an appropriate remuneration level, the Executive

Directors consider reports from external consultants, the level of fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable

companies and the amount of time required to fulfil their duties to the shareholders.

Non-Executive Director remuneration is paid as a cash fee. They do qualify to participate in the Company’s Employee Share

Option Scheme, although any allocation must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting. There is no retirement

benefit plan for Non-Executive Directors.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 is detailed on page 28 of this Report.

Remuneration Committee
The Company has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee which is responsible for determining and reviewing

remuneration for the Executive Directors and senior executives. This Committee is composed of Dr D E Clarke (Committee

Chairman) and Mr P A K Naylor who are both Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

The responsibilities and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

• Review the competitiveness of the Company’s senior executive compensation programmes to ensure:

(a) the attraction and retention of Company officers;

(b) the motivation of Company officers to achieve the Company’s business objectives; and

(c) to align the interest of key leadership with the long-term interests of the Company’s shareholders.

• Review trends in management compensation, oversee the development of new compensation plans and, when

necessary, approve the revision of existing plans.

• Review the performance of executive management.

• Review and approve the Chairman’s and Managing Director’s goals and objectives, evaluate Chairman’s and Managing

Director’s performance in light of these corporate objectives, and set the Chairman’s and Managing Director’s

compensation levels consistent with Company philosophy.

• Review the salaries, bonus and other compensation for senior executives. The Committee will recommend appropriate

salary, bonus and other compensation to the Board for approval.

• Review and approve compensation packages for new Company officers and termination packages for corporate officers

as requested by management.

• Review and make recommendations concerning long-term incentive compensation plans, including the use of share

options.

The Remuneration Committee reviews salary packages on an annual basis, usually in June/July, and at other times where a

specific case is referred to it by the Board or management.

Executive Director and Senior Management Remuneration
The Company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their qualifications, skills,

position and responsibilities within the organisation.

To assist in determining the level and composition of remuneration, the Company subscribes to independent research reports

which detail remuneration levels in the Australian mining industry for executive and general operating positions. The

Remuneration Committee also has access to salary and remuneration reports from various human resource and recruitment

agencies.

Remuneration consists of the following components:

(a) Fixed Remuneration;

(b) Variable Remuneration comprising:

(i) Short Term Incentives/Rewards

(ii) Long Term Incentives

(c) Special Benefits



Fixed Remuneration
Fixed Remuneration comprises the base pay of employees and includes their annual salary, superannuation and prescribed

non-financial fixed benefits such as provision of a motor vehicle, car allowance etc.

Executives are offered a competitive salary package as these form the base of their remuneration. Base salary is reviewed

annually to ensure remuneration is competitive with the general market range. This is very important as most executives do not

receive any Short Term Incentive/Reward component in their package.

Variable Remuneration – Short Term Incentives/Rewards
Should the Company achieve an above budget profit and/or production target in a financial year, or a new phase of project

development is successfully achieved in an expedient manner and within budget, the Remuneration Committee may reward

the Executive Directors with a cash bonus during the annual salary review.

These bonuses are not a pre-determined amount or pool linked to an incentive arrangement, but a post-outcome reward

assessed on actual performance. It is considered that a bonus is paid for exceptional performance and not as a regular portion

of the remuneration package of executives. It is believed that short-term incentives can cause a short-term focus and could be

detrimental to the long-term growth of the Company and those ensuing benefits to shareholders.

Variable Remuneration – Long-Term Incentives
Long-term incentives are predominantly provided through participation in the Company’s Employee Share Option Scheme.

The objective of the Employee Share Option Scheme is to reward employees in a manner which aligns them with those of the

shareholders of the Company.

Additional details of the Employee Share Option Scheme can be found at Note 29 to the Financial Statements.

The Employee Share Option Scheme is open to all employees and allocations are made at the discretion of the Remuneration

Committee and the Board, in terms of both amounts and timing. In general, larger allocations are made to senior executives

who have a greater impact on the direction, management and performance of the Company.

During and since the end of the financial year, no share options have been granted to Directors or specified executives of the

Company.

Special Benefits
The Company may grant a special benefit to an employee in certain circumstances. These special benefits may include house

rental and/or relocation payment for employees that are being relocated to commence their employment with, or change

position within, the Company’s operations. Benefits could also include payment of spouse or family travel when accompanying

an executive on Company business.

Special Benefits are not considered to be a regular part of an executive’s remuneration, but are granted due to irregular special

circumstances referable to the person’s employment or work with the Company.

Employment Contracts
There are no employment or service contracts with any of the Directors or senior management of the Company.

Company Performance
The following table shows the performance of the Company over the past five years based on several key indicators:

FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 30 JUNE

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Diluted Earnings per Share (cents) 15.7 25.6 10.4 7.3 13.5

Shareholders’ Funds ($m) 46.2 41.9 27.9 19.7 15.8

Dividends per Share (cents) 6.5 6.0 5.5 5.0 4.5

Net Profit After Tax & Minorities (A$m) 8.6 14.1 5.6 3.7 6.8

Operating Revenue (A$m) 54.6 85.1 40.8 29.6 28.2

Gold Production (ozs) 71,851 122,531 80,170 46,835 58,299

Share Price (A$/share) $2.43 $2.75 $1.70 $1.90 $0.68

Market Capitalisation (A$m) 132 145 90 95 32
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Director And Executive Details
The Directors of Troy Resources NL during the year were:

• J L C Jones: Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

• K K Nilsson: Managing Director

• D E Clarke: Non-Executive Director

• P A K Naylor: Non-Executive Director

The Executives of Troy Resources NL during the year were:

• G F Kaczmarek: Company Secretary and Financial Controller

• K D Ross: Operations Manager – Western Australia (appointed 11 February 2005)

• G E Cheong: Registered Mine Manager

• L J Skotsch: Manager Exploration

• S W Jones: Site Project Manager – Lords 

• G K Brennan: Senior Mine Geologist and Mine Superintendent

Additional Executives for the Group during the year:

• H A Clive: Director Ord Resources Ltd (UK subsidiary)

• Ts Tserenjav: Manager Troy Mongolia Alt Resources (Mongolia)

• C C Spurway: Exploration Manager, Troy Brasil Exploração Mineral Ltda

Mr P J Doyle commenced employment with the Company in the position of Exploration and Business Development Manager

on 18 July 2005.

The economic entity has subsidiaries in the UK, Finland, Austria and Brazil where the duties of the Company Secretary, or its

equivalent, has been assigned to a local legal firm to provide the relevant residential country support. In these cases there is

no specific individual occupying the position of Secretary.

Elements of Director and Executive Remuneration
Remuneration packages contain the following key elements:

(a) Primary benefits: salary/fees, bonuses and non-monetary benefits including the provision of fully maintained motor

vehicles and insurance benefits;

(b) Post-employment benefits: including superannuation and prescribed retirement benefits;

(c) Equity: share options granted under the Employee Share Option Scheme as disclosed in Note 29 to the Financial

Statements; and

(d) Other benefits: items such as motor vehicle allowance provided to the employee.

The following table discloses the remuneration of the Directors of the Company:

Primary Post-Employment Equity

Cash Other Non-

Salary Cash Cash Monetary Super- Retirement

2005 & Fees Bonus (d) Benefits (e) Benefits (a) annuation Benefits Options Total

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

J L C Jones 307,733 60,000 40,000 2,611 27,696 - - 438,040

K K Nilsson 271,762 60,000 - 12,232 24,459 - - 368,453

P A K Naylor 50,000 - - - 4,500 - - 54,500

D E Clarke 81,950 (c) - - - 4,500 - - 86,450

Total 711,445 120,000 40,000 14,843 61,155 - - 947,443

Cash bonuses as a percentage of the total remuneration are:

J L C Jones 14%

K K Nilsson 16%



The following table discloses the remuneration of the five highest remunerated executives of Troy Resources NL during the

year:

2005 Primary Post-Employment Equity

Name Cash Other Non-

Salary Cash Cash Monetary Super- Retirement

& Fees Bonus (d) Benefits Benefits (a) annuation Benefits Options (b) Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

G E Cheong 169,565 - - - 15,261 - - 184,826

G F Kaczmarek 156,000 - - 35,292 14,040 - 18,660 223,992

L J Skotsch 147,000 - - 15,579 13,230 - 16,361 192,170

S W Jones 144,714 - - - 13,024 - - 157,738

G K Brennan 144,670 - - - 13,020 - - 157,690

Total 761,949 - - 50,871 68,575 - 35,021 916,416

The five highest paid Company executives are also the five highest paid group executives.

(a) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as travel and the provision of fully maintained motor vehicles and fuel and relocation expenses. The

amounts include amounts paid for Fringe Benefits Tax, where applicable. 

(b) Options were valued using the Binomial Option Pricing Model.

(c) Includes $31,950 paid to a Director related entity for consulting services provided to the Entity.

(d) Messrs J L C Jones and K K Nilsson were granted a cash bonus of $60,000 each in the 2004/05 year, following a review by the Remuneration

Committee. The bonus was referable to the record level of gold production and profit of the Entity achieved during the year.

(e) Mr J L C Jones receives a motor vehicle allowance of $40,000 per annum.

VALUE OF OPTIONS ISSUED TO DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES
There were no options granted, vested, exercised or lapsed in relation to Directors during the year.

Percentage

Options Options Options Total value Value of of total 

Granted Exercised Lapsed of options options remuneration

granted, included in for the year

2005 Value at Value at Value at exercised and remuneration that consists

Name grant date exercise date time of lapse lapsed (3) for the year (4) of options

$ $ $ $ $ %

G Kaczmarek - 32,875 (1) - 32,875 18,660 8.3

L Skotsch - 22,300 (2) - 22,300 16,361 8.5

Value of options – basis of calculation:

(1) These options were granted on 10 August 2002.

(2) These options were granted on 29 August 2003 and 21 November 2001.

(3) The total value of options granted, exercised and lapsed is calculated based on the following:

* Fair value of the option at grant date multiplied by the number of options granted during the year; plus

* Fair value of the option at the time it is exercised multiplied by the number of options exercised during the year; plus

* Fair value of the option at the time of lapse multiplied by the number of options lapsed during the year.

(4) The total value of options included in remuneration for the year is calculated in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1046 “Director and

Executive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities”, as amended by Accounting Standard AASB 1046A. This requires the following:

* The value of the options is determined at grant date and are included in remuneration on a proportionate basis as vesting occurs.

* The options vest over a period of time, therefore, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1046 “Director and Executive Disclosures

by Disclosing Entities”, as amended by Accounting Standard AASB 1046A, only the portion of the total fair value of the options at vesting

date is included in remuneration for the financial year.
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The Company has a policy in accordance with

Corporate Governance best practice that the tax services and other general accounting advice and services, should not be

performed by the Company’s auditor. However, the Company may employ the auditor on assignments additional to their

statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Consolidated Entity are

important and closely related to their work as auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the

auditor is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The

nature and scope of non-audit services provided do not compromise the independence of the auditor.

A copy of the auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on

page 31 of the Financial Statements.

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for audit and non-audit services provided during the financial year are

outlined in Note 27 to the Financial Statements.

Rounding of Amounts
The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with

that Class Order amounts in the Directors' Report and the Financial Report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars.

Signed at West Perth, Western Australia, this 30th day of September 2005 in accordance with a resolution of Directors

made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors of Troy Resources NL

D E CLARKE

Non-Executive Director
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The Board of Directors

Troy Resources NL

Ground Floor

44 Ord Street

West Perth WA 6005

30 September 2005

Dear Board Members

Troy Resources NL

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of

independence to the directors of Troy Resources NL.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Troy Resources NL for the financial year ended 30 June 2005, I

declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours faithfully

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

KEITH F JONES

Partner

Chartered Accountant

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
A.C.N. 74 490 121 060

Woodside Plaza
Level 14
240 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
GPO Box A46
Perth WA 6837 Australia

DX 206
Tel: +61 (0) 8 9365 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 8 9365 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by the Accountants' Scheme,
approved under the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW).

A u d i t o r ’ s  I n d e p e n d e n c e  D e c l a r a t i o n
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The notes to the Financial Statements are on pages 35-67.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Sales revenue (gold sales) 2 54,641 85,077 7,112 23,619

Cost of sales (27,305) (52,324) (12,827) (34,579)

Gross Profit/(Loss) 27,336 32,753 (5,715) (10,960)

Other revenue from ordinary activities 2 1,982 2,672 33,752 29,032

Exploration expenses (6,634) (4,219) (3,714) (2,275)

Administration expenses (5,617) (6,463) (3,593) (4,346)

Corporate activity expenses (287) (1,246) (287) (2,332)

Other expenses (314) (541) (728) -

Borrowing costs - (194) - (38)

Profit From Ordinary Activities Before Income Tax 16,466 22,762 19,715 9,081

Income tax (expense)/benefit relating to ordinary activities 5 (1,900) 209 1,621 1,870

Net Profit 14,566 22,971 21,336 10,951

Net (profit)/loss attributable to outside equity interests (5,896) (8,919) - -

Net Profit Attributable to Members of the Parent Entity 8,670 14,052 21,336 10,951

Increase/(decrease) in foreign currency translation

reserve arising on translation of self-sustaining

foreign operations 1,016 (270) - -

Total Revenue, Expense and Valuation Adjustments

Attributable to Members of the Parent Entity 

Recognised Directly in Equity 1,016 (270) - -

Changes in Equity Other

Than Those Resulting From 

Transactions with Owners as Owners 9,686 13,782 21,336 10,951

Earnings Per Share 

Basic (cents per share) 23 15.8 25.7

Diluted (cents per share) 23 15.7 25.6



CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 38(a) 27,821 24,515 21,214 12,956

Receivables 6 2,850 4,796 2,421 3,820

Other financial assets 7 4,066 1,448 4,024 1,406

Inventory 8 4,306 4,592 1,881 2,160

Current tax assets 9 - 515 573 991

Other 10 - 2 - 2

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 39,043 35,868 30,113 21,335

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 11 6,983 6,761 6,224 2,511

Other 12 9,346 5,086 8,535 2,961

Loans to subsidiaries - - 2,197 551

Deferred Tax Asset 9 3,937 496 3,937 515

Investments in subsidiaries - - 1,940 1,940

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 20,266 12,343 22,833 8,478

TOTAL ASSETS 59,309 48,211 52,946 29,813

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 13 6,674 3,475 4,616 2,203

Current tax liabilities 14 1,117 - - -

Provisions 15 2,073 1,799 1,593 1,154

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 9,864 5,274 6,209 3,357

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities 14 2,848 745 2,848 745

Provisions 15 289 305 289 305

Loans from subsidiaries 16 - - 78 978

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,137 1,050 3,215 2,028

TOTAL LIABILITIES 13,001 6,324 9,424 5,385

NET ASSETS 46,308 41,887 43,522 24,428

EQUITY

Contributed equity 19 22,918 21,870 22,918 21,870

Reserves 20 871 (145) 33 33

Retained profit/(losses) 21 21,261 15,881 20,571 2,525

Total parent entity interest in equity 45,050 37,606 43,522 24,428

Total outside equity interest 22 1,258 4,281 - -

TOTAL EQUITY 46,308 41,887 43,522 24,428
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 55,019 90,429 14,422 37,596

Payments to suppliers and employees (23,850) (56,968) (13,971) (31,099)

Dividend received - - 25,253 17,440

Interest received 1,509 928 1,094 377

Income taxes paid (2,461) (1,642) (11) (512)

Borrowing costs - (194) - (38)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 38(b) 30,217 32,553 26,787 23,764

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payment for investment in subsidiary - - - (263)

Payments for purchase of tenements (1,173) (105) (540) (137)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 31 925 31 194

Payments for property, plant and equipment (5,280) (735) (4,189) (544)

Proceeds on sale of investment securities 64 490 64 490

Loans from/(to) controlled entities - - (3,187) 88

Payments for purchase of investment securities (2,872) (895) (2,872) (954)

Proceeds from other financial assets - 2,025 - 2,025

Payment for mine development (5,195) (2,171) (4,746) (1,835)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES (14,425) (466) (15,439) (936)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of shares 285 334 285 334

Dividends paid - members of the parent entity (3,287) (2,963) (3,287) (2,963)

Dividends paid - outside equity interests (8,919) (6,023) - -

Repayment of borrowings - (7,231) - (9,763)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (11,921) (15,883) (3,002) (12,392)

Net increase in cash held 3,871 16,204 8,346 10,436

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance

of cash held in foreign currencies (565) (44) (88) (60)

Add opening cash brought forward 24,515 8,355 12,956 2,580

Closing cash carried forward 38(a) 27,821 24,515 21,214 12,956

The notes to the Financial Statements are on pages 35-67.



1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act

2001, applicable Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views, and complies with other requirements of

the law.

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost and except where stated, does not take into account

changing money values or current valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given

in exchange for assets.

Significant Accounting Policies
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the

concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions, or other events, are

reported.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Accounts Payable
Trade payables and other accounts payable are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid and

are recognised when the Consolidated Entity becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of

goods and services.

(b) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a legal, equitable or constructive obligation to make a future

sacrifice of economic benefits to other entities as a result of past transactions or other past events. It is probable that a

future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.

A provision for dividends is only recognised as a liability where the dividends are declared, determined or publicly

recommended on or before the reporting date.

(c) Interest Bearing Liabilities
Debentures, bank loans and other loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received. Interest expense

is recognised on an accrual basis.

Interest and ancillary costs incurred in connection with borrowings for the development of specific assets are deferred

and amortised or depreciated over the life of the project.

(d) Depreciation
Plant and Equipment and Motor Vehicles are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method

or the reducing balance method.

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Motor Vehicle 2-7 years

Plant and Equipment 2-12 years

Depreciation is not charged on land.

(e) Earnings per Share
Earnings per share has been calculated in accordance with AASB 1027 “Earnings Per Share”.
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N o t e s  t o  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s
for the financial year ended 30 June 2004

1. Summary of Accounting Policies Continued

(f) Employee Benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date.

These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave.

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled

within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are

expected to be paid when the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of

the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In

determining the present value of future cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting date on national government

bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability, are used.

Employee benefit expenses and revenues arising in respect of the following categories:

• wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual leave, long service leave, sick leave and other leave benefits; and

• other types of employee benefits

are recognised against profit on a net basis in their respective categories.

Details of the equity-based option scheme are described in Note 29. The difference between the total market value of

options issued during a financial year, at the date of issue, and the total amount received from executives and employees is

not in the Financial Statements except for the purpose of determining Directors’ and executives’ remuneration in respect of

that financial year as disclosed in Note 25 to the Financial Statements.

(g) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Consolidated Entity is accumulated separately for

each prospect area. Such expenditure comprises net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead

expenditure, but does not include general overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific nexus with a

particular prospect area. Each area of interest is limited to a size related to a known or probable mineral resource capable of

supporting a mining operation.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each prospect area is fully written off in the financial year in which it is incurred,

unless its recoupment out of revenue to be derived from the successful development of the prospect, or from sale of that

prospect, is reasonably assured.

The recoverable amount of each prospect area is assessed annually by the Directors in accordance with accounting policy

1(s). Where the carrying value of a prospect is in excess of its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying value is written

down to its recoverable amount.

When a prospect area is abandoned, any expenditure carried forward in respect of that area is written off to earnings.

Expenditure is not carried forward in respect of any prospect area unless the economic entity’s rights of tenure to that area

are current.

Once a development decision has been taken, all exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the prospect area is

transferred to "Mine Development Properties".

(h) Foreign Currencies
Translation of Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the Consolidated Entity are converted to local currency at the rate of

exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the reporting date (other than monetary items arising under

foreign currency contracts where the exchange rate for that monetary item is fixed in the contract) are translated using the

spot rate at the end of the financial year.

A monetary item arising under a foreign currency contract outstanding at the reporting date where the exchange rate for

the monetary item is fixed in the contract is translated at the exchange rate fixed in the contract.

Except for certain specific hedges, all resulting exchange differences arising on settlement or re-statement are recognised

as revenues and expenses for the financial year. Any gains or costs on entering a hedge are deferred and amortised over

the life of the contract.



Specific Hedges
Where a purchase or sale is specifically hedged, exchange gains or losses on the hedging transaction arising up to the date

of purchase or sale and costs, premiums and discounts relative to the hedging transaction are deferred and included in the

measurement of the purchase or sale. Exchange gains and losses arising on the hedge transaction after that date are taken

to the net profit.

Hedges of Foreign Operations

Exchange differences relating to foreign currency monetary items forming part of the net investment in a self-sustaining

foreign operation, together with hedges of such monetary items and related tax effects, are transferred to the foreign

currency translation reserve on incorporation of the foreign operation’s financial report into the financial report of Troy

Resources NL.

Translation of Financial Reports of Overseas Operations

Financial reports of overseas operations that are determined to be self-sustaining, (financially and operationally

independent of Troy Resources NL), are translated using the current rate method and any exchange differences are taken

directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. Overseas operations that are not self sustaining are converted to local

currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

(i) Gold Hedging 
Gold hedging is undertaken in order to avoid or minimise possible adverse financial or cash flow effects of movements in

commodity prices and exchange rates. Premiums received or costs arising upon entering into forward sale, option and

other derivative contracts intended to hedge specific future production, together with subsequent realised and unrealised

gains or losses, are deferred until the hedged production is delivered.

In those circumstances where a hedging transaction is terminated prior to maturity because the hedged production is no

longer expected to be produced, any previously deferred gains and losses are recognised in net profit on the date of

termination. If the hedging transaction is terminated prior to its maturity date and the hedged transaction is still expected

to occur, deferral of any gains and losses which arose prior to termination continues and those gains and losses are

included in the measurement of the hedged transaction.

The gross values of the underlying derivative financial instruments entered into for hedging or trading purposes are not

recognised in the Financial Statements. 

(j) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

(i) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of

acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or

payables. Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of the cash flows

arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation office is classified as

operating cash flows.

(k) Income Tax
Tax-effect accounting principles are adopted whereby income tax expense is calculated on pre-tax accounting profits after

adjustment for permanent differences. The tax-effect of timing differences, which occur when items are included or allowed

for income tax purposes in a period different to that for accounting, is shown at current taxation rates in provision for

deferred income tax and future income tax benefit, as applicable.

During the financial year the Directors elected that the Company and all its wholly-owned Australian resident entities would

join a tax-consolidated group. As a result, all income tax expenses, revenues, assets and liabilities of the members of the

tax-consolidated group are recognised in the financial statements of the parent entity.

(l) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Ore stockpiles, gold in circuit and bullion are valued

applying absorption costing.
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N o t e s  t o  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s CONTINUED

1. Summary of Accounting Policies Continued

(m) Investments
Controlled entities are recorded at cost in the consolidated Financial Statements. Investments purchased for resale are

valued at the lower of cost and market value. Other investments are recorded at cost.

Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis. Interest revenue is recognised on an accrual basis.

(n) Joint Venture Operations
The economic entity’s interest in joint ventures is brought to account by including in their respective classification categories

the amount of:

(i) the economic entity’s share in each of the individual assets employed in the joint ventures;

(ii) liabilities incurred in relation to joint ventures including the economic entity’s share of liabilities for which it is jointly

and/or severally liable; and

(iii) the economic entity’s share of expenses incurred in relation to the joint ventures.

(o) Mine Development Properties
Mine development properties are amortised on a unit-of-production basis. The unit-of-production basis results in an

amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the economically recoverable mineral resource. The unit-of-production

basis can be on a tonnes or ounces depleted basis.

(p) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated Financial Statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities that comprise

the economic entity, being the Company (parent entity) and its controlled entities as defined in Accounting Standard AASB

1024 “Consolidated Accounts”. A list of controlled entities appears in Note 33 to the Financial Statements. Consistent

accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated Financial Statements. 

The consolidated Financial Statements include the information and results of each controlled entity from the date on which

the Company obtains control and until such time as the Company ceases to control such entity.

In preparing the consolidated Financial Statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealised profits

arising within the economic entity are eliminated in full.

(q) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits are stated at nominal value.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments

readily convertible to cash within two working days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are carried at the principal amount. Interest is recognised as an expense as it accrues.

(r) Receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance for doubtful debts.

(s) Recoverable Amount of Non-Current Assets
Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any non-current asset exceeds

recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is determined as the present value of the amount expected to be recovered

through the cash inflows and outflows arising from the continued use and subsequent disposal of the non-current asset.

(t) Restoration and Rehabilitation
Rehabilitation costs are incurred on an ongoing basis. Restoration and rehabilitation costs that are expected to be incurred

are provided for as part of the cost of production. Accordingly, these costs are recognised gradually over the life of the

mine. These costs include obligations relating to reclamation, waste dump contouring and landfill costs. These estimates of

the restoration obligations are based on anticipated technology, legal requirements and future costs. These estimated costs

have not been discounted and changes in cost estimates are recognised prospectively. In determining the obligations, the

Consolidated Entity has assumed no significant changes will occur in relevant Federal and State Legislation in relation to

restoration of such mineral properties in the future.



(u) Revenue Recognition
Sale of Goods and Disposal of Assets

Revenue from the sale of gold and disposal of other assets is recognised when the Consolidated Entity has passed control
of the gold or other assets to the buyer and a price has been set.

Fees from Related Parties

The Fees from Related Parties refers to the Toll Milling Fee charged by Troy Resources NL to its wholly owned subsidiary,
Wirraminna Gold NL, under the Sandstone Joint Venture which is recognised on an accrual basis. 

(v) Financial Instruments Issued by the Company
Debt and Equity Instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.

Compound Instruments

Compound instruments issued before 1 January 1998 are classified as either liabilities or as equity, whichever is the
predominant component part, in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. The component parts of
compound instruments issued on or after 1 January 1998 are classified separately as liabilities and equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement. The liability component initially brought to account is the present value of
the future payments of interest and principal. The equity component initially brought to account is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the amount of the compound instrument as a whole.

Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds
of the equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection
with the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have been incurred had those instruments not been issued.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

2. REVENUE
Operating

Gold sales 54,641 85,077 7,112 23,619

Non-operating

Proceeds on sale of investments 64 490 64 490

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 31 925 31 1,774

Interest revenue from: non-related parties 1,509 928 1,094 285

Interest revenue from: related parties - - - 89

Fees revenue from: related parties - - 7,308 8,950

Dividend received: related parties - - 25,253 17,440

Other 378 329 2 4

56,623 87,749 40,864 52,651

3. EXPENSES
Depreciation of plant, equipment and motor vehicles 5,772 2,670 453 669

Exploration expenditure 6,634 4,219 3,714 2,275

Borrowing costs - 194 - 38

Write down to recoverable amount of investments 120 60 120 60

Write down to recoverable amount of controlled entity - - 640 995

Carrying amount of investments sold 144 318 144 318

Carrying amount of assets sold 23 928 23 2,014

Amortisation of mining properties 2,751 6,582 475 1,307

Provision for rehabilitation expenses 39 139 179 (64)

Government royalties 681 1,073 280 822
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N o t e s  t o  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s CONTINUED

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

4. SALE OF ASSETS
Sale of assets in the ordinary course of business 

have given rise to the following profits and losses:

Net profits/(losses)

Investments (80) 172 (80) 172

Property, plant & equipment 8 (3) 8 (240)

(72) 169 (72) (68)

5. INCOME TAX
Profit from ordinary activities before tax 16,466 22,762 19,715 9,081

Prima facie income tax expense/(benefit)

calculated at 30% on the operating profit 4,939 6,829 5,914 2,724

Increase/(decrease) in income tax expense/(benefit)

due to non tax deductible items:

Adjustment for Sertão’s tax expense (1) (3,325) (7,695) - -

Write-off loan to subsidiary - - 191 298

Foreign exploration expenditure 167 69 167 69

Other non-allowable items 161 236 155 263

Goodwill amortisation - 24 - -

Foreign exchange adjustment (37) 12 - -

Dividend from controlled entity - - (7,576) (5,231)

Overseas subsidiary losses not available 191 188 - -

(Over)/under provision for deferred income

tax in previous period (207) - (207) -

Depreciation adjustment Brazil 29 144 - -

Reconciliation of provision for deferred income 

to proof balances (15) 1 (15) 1

Reconciliation of provision for future income

tax benefit to proof balances (3) 6 (3) 6

Foreign tax credit - (23) - -

Impact of the tax consolidation system:

Initial recognition of deferred tax balances of subsidiaries 

on implementation of the tax consolidation system - - - 364

Consideration paid or payable to/from subsidiaries

in respect of transferred deferred tax balances - - - (364)

Current year income tax expense / (losses) transferred

to head company on consolidation - - (247) -

Income tax expense/(benefit) attributable to

operating profit 1,900 (209) (1,621) (1,870)

(1) This entry occurs as a result of Sertão’s tax expense being calculated on income in accordance with Brazilian tax law rather than operating
profit as per Australian tax law.

Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its Australian resident wholly-owned entities, to elect to

consolidate and be treated as a single entity for income tax purposes was substantively enacted on 21 October 2002.

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax consolidated group from 1 July 2003.  



CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

6. CURRENT RECEIVABLES
Debtors and prepayments 2,850 4,796 2,261 629

Loans to controlled entities - - 160 3,191

2,850 4,796 2,421 3,820

7. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Quoted investments: 

At recoverable amount (1) 4,032 1,394 4,024 1,390

4,032 1,394 4,024 1,390

Unquoted investments: 

At recoverable amount (1) 34 54 - 16

4,066 1,448 4,024 1,406

4,066 1,448 4,024 1,406

Market value of investments:

Shares: other corporations 4,066 1,448 4,024 1,406

(1) In determining recoverable amount, the current market value associated with individual investments has been compared to the investment

cost, and where appropriate, a write down has been performed.

8. INVENTORY
Bullion on hand - at cost 1,360 1,041 129 203

Ore stockpiles and work in progress - at cost 2,437 3,319 1,427 1,729

Stores and raw materials - at cost 509 232 325 228

4,306 4,592 1,881 2,160

9. TAX ASSETS 
Current

Current tax benefit - 515 573 991

Non-current

Deferred Tax Asset:

Future income tax benefit 3,937 496 3,937 515

3,937 1,011 4,510 1,506

10. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Deposits - 2 - 2

- 2 - 2
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CONSOLIDATED

Land & Plant & Motor Total

Buildings Equipment Vehicles

at cost at cost at cost

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Gross carrying amount

Balance at 30 June 2004 53 13,593 1,145 14,791

Additions 55 4,540 685 5,280

Disposals - (39) (136) (175)

Net foreign exchange differences arising on 

translation of financial statements of 

self-sustaining foreign operations - 1,482 54 1,536

Balance at 30 June 2005 108 19,576 1,748 21,432

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 30 June 2004 - (7,463) (567) (8,030)

Depreciation expense - (5,365) (407) (5,772)

Disposals - 34 128 162

Net foreign exchange differences arising on

translation of financial statements of 

self-sustaining foreign operations - (789) (20) (809)

Balance at 30 June 2005 - (13,583) (866) (14,449)

Net book value

As at 30 June 2004 53 6,130 578 6,761

As at 30 June 2005 108 5,993 882 6,983

COMPANY

Land & Plant & Motor Total

Buildings Equipment Vehicles

at cost at cost at cost

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Gross carrying amount 53 5,756 689 6,498

Balance at 30 June 2004

Additions 55 3,778 358 4,191

Disposals - (40) (87) (127)

Balance at 30 June 2005 108 9,494 960 10,562

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 30 June 2004 - (3,588) (399) (3,987)

Depreciation expense - (377) (76) (453)

Disposals - 32 70 102

Balance at 30 June 2005 - (3,933) (405) (4,338)

Net book value

As at 30 June 2004 53 2,168 290 2,511

As at 30 June 2005 108 5,561 555 6,224



CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether

recognised as an expense or capitalised as

part of the carrying amount of other assets 

during the year

Plant and equipment 5,365 2,500 76 594

Motor vehicles 407 170 377 75

Balance at 30 June 2005 5,772 2,670 453 669

12. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER
Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Balance brought forward 1,174 1,293 809 672

Expenditure incurred during the year 7,753 4,100 4,547 2,412

Expenditure written off during the year (6,634) (4,219) (3,714) (2,275)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 2,293 1,174 1,642 809

Mine & development properties

Balance brought forward 3,912 7,544 2,152 1,625

Expenditure incurred during the year 5,892 2,950 5,216 1,834

Amortisation expensed during year (2,751) (6,582) (475) (1,307)

Mine & development properties 7,053 3,912 6,893 2,152

9,346 5,086 8,535 2,961

Many of the Consolidated Entity’s Australian exploration properties are subject to claims under Native Title or may

contain sacred sites or sites of significance to aboriginal people. In the event of the National Native Title Tribunal

ratifying any such claim, the Company’s exploration properties or areas within those tenements may be subject to

exploration and/or mining restrictions or compensation. At this time, the Company is unable to assess the likely effect, if

any, of the claims.

13. CURRENT PAYABLES
Trade payables 4,279 2,321 2,480 1,646

Accrued expenses 2,395 1,154 2,136 557

6,674 3,475 4,616 2,203

14. TAX LIABILITIES
Current

Current tax liabilities 1,117 - - -

Non-current

Deferred tax liabilities 2,848 745 2,848 745

3,965 745 2,848 745
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

15. PROVISIONS
Current provisions

Employee benefits 17 1,431 1,200 1,148 892

Dividend 93 89 93 89

Rehabilitation expenses 549 510 352 173

2,073 1,799 1,593 1,154

Non-current provisions

Employee benefits 17 289 305 289 305

289 305 289 305

(a) Provision for rehabilitation

A provision for rehabilitation is recognised in relation to the mining activities for costs such as reclamation, waste

site closure, plant closure and other costs associated with the rehabilitation of a mining site. Estimates of the

rehabilitation obligations are based on anticipated technology and legal requirements and future costs, which have

been discounted to their present value. In determining the rehabilitation provision, the entity has assumed no

significant changes will occur in the relevant Federal and State legislation in relation to rehabilitation of such mines

in the future.

(b) Provision for dividend

The provision for dividends represents the aggregate amount of dividends declared, determined or publicly

recommended on or before the reporting date, which remain undistributed as at reporting date, regardless of the

extent to which they are expected to be paid in cash. (Also refer to Notes 24 and 36.)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Rehabilitation Rehabilitation

Dividend Provision Dividend Provision

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Balance at 30 June 2004 90 510 90 173

Additional provisions recognised 3,290 231 3,290 179

Reductions arising from payments (3,287) - (3,287) -

Reductions resulting from the re-measurement 

of the estimated future sacrifice or the settlement 

of the provision without cost to the entity - (192) - -

Balance at 30 June 2005 93 549 93 352

Current 93 549 93 352

Non-current - - - -

93 549 93 352

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

16. NON-CURRENT PAYABLES
Unsecured

Loans from controlled entities - - 78 978

- - 78 978



CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

17. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The aggregate employee entitlement

liability recognised and included in the

Financial Statements is as follows:

Current 15 1,431 1,200 1,148 892

Non-current 15 289 305 289 305

1,720 1,505 1,437 1,197

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

No. No. No. No.

Number of employees at the end of the 

financial year 151 144 46 44

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

18. NON-HEDGED FOREIGN CURRENCY BALANCES
The Australian dollar equivalent of foreign currency 

balances included in the Financial Statements which 

are not effectively hedged are as follows:

US dollars

Deposits and at bank 93 42 82 -

At bank

UK pounds 44 5 40 41

Euros 121 148 - -

Brazilian reais 6,469 11,364 - -

6,727 11,559 122 41
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

19. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Contributed equity

49,022,187 (2004: 48,404,387) 

ordinary shares fully paid 21,981 20,926 21,981 20,926

6,248,552 (2004: 6,297,852) 

ordinary shares partly paid 937 944 937 944

22,918 21,870 22,918 21,870

2005 2004

No. No.

('000) ($'000) (‘000) ($'000)

Fully paid ordinary share capital

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 48,404 20,926 47,963 20,609

Issue of shares for purchase of mining tenements 300 763 - -

Issue of shares under executive and employee

share option plan (Note 29) 269 265 330 256

Partly paid shares paid up 49 27 111 61

49,022 21,981 48,404 20,926

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the entitlement to dividends. 

Partly paid ordinary share capital

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 6,298 944 6,409 961

Converted to fully paid shares (49) (7) (111) (17)

Balance at the end of the financial year 6,249 937 6,298 944

Partly paid ordinary shares are paid to $0.60 with $0.40 outstanding. Of this amount $0.15 is allocated to partly paid share

capital. The partly paid shares carry full dividend entitlement but proportional voting rights. 

Share Options

In accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share Option Scheme, as at 30 June 2005, employees have options

over 650,500 ordinary shares in aggregate. Full details of the scheme are contained in Note 29 to the Financial

Statements.



CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

20. RESERVES

(a) Asset revaluation reserve:
Balance at beginning of financial year 135 135 33 33

Movements - - - -

Balance at the end of the financial year 135 135 33 33

The asset revaluation reserve has arisen due to an historical revaluation of non-current assets. Currently the cost method

is adopted for asset values. Where a re-valued asset is sold or disposed of, that portion of the asset revaluation reserve,

which relates to that asset, is transferred to retained profits. 

(b) Foreign currency translation reserve:
Balance at beginning of financial year (280) (10) - -

Translation of foreign operations 1,016 (270) - -

Balance at the end of the financial year 736 (280) - -

Exchange differences relating to foreign currency monetary items forming part of the net investment in a self-sustaining

foreign operation and the translation of self-sustaining foreign controlled entity are brought to account by entries made

directly to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in Note 1(h).

Total reserves 871 (145) 33 33

21. RETAINED PROFITS
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 15,881 4,832 2,525 (5,423)

Net profit attributable to members of the parent entity 8,670 14,052 21,336 10,951

Dividends provided for or paid (3,290) (3,003) (3,290) (3,003)

Balance at the end of the financial year 21,261 15,881 20,571 2,525

CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004

($'000) ($’000)

22. OUTSIDE EQUITY INTEREST
Outside equity interest in controlled entities comprises:

Contributed equity 9 8

Retained profit/(loss) 929 4,393

Reserves 320 (120)

1,258 4,281
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CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004

Cents Per Cents Per

Share Share

23. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share 15.8 25.7

Diluted earnings per share 15.7 25.6

(a) Basic Earnings Per Share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as

follows: 

2005 2004

($'000) ($’000)

Earnings (i) 8,670 14,052

2005 2004

No. No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (ii) 54,985,624 54,595,223

(i) Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share reconciles to net profit in the Statement of Financial Performance.

(ii) Options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares

used in the calculation of basic earnings per share, where dilutive, potential ordinary shares are included in the calculation of diluted

earnings per share. (Refer to Note 23(b).)

(b) Diluted Earnings Per Share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as

follows: 

2005 2004

($'000) ($’000)

Earnings (i) 8,670 14,052

2005 2004

No. No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and

potential ordinary shares (ii) 55,191,746 54,830,314

(i) Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the net profit in the Statement of Financial Performance.

(ii) Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share reconciles

to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

used in the calculation of basic EPS 54,985,624 54,595,223

Employee options 206,122 235,091



2005 2004

No No

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and

potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of

diluted EPS (iii) 55,191,746 54,830,314

The following potential ordinary shares are not dilutive and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of

ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. 

Employee options 444,378 509,909

(iii) Weighted average number of converted, lapsed, or cancelled potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per

share:

Option to purchase ordinary shares pursuant to

the Employee Share Option Scheme - -

- -

2005 2004

Cents per Total Cents per Total

Share ($’000) Share ($’000)

24. DIVIDENDS/FRANKING CREDITS
Final dividend – franked at 30%

paid September 2004 (previous November 2003) 6.0 3,290 5.5 3,003

The Directors have declared a dividend for the 2005 year of 6.5 cents per share, fully franked. The books closing date is

30 September 2005 and the dividend is payable on 14 October 2005. (Refer Note 36.)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Adjusted franking account balance at 30% 5,349 6,748 3,622 5,021

25. REMUNERATION OF SPECIFIED DIRECTORS AND SPECIFIED EXECUTIVES
The specified directors of Troy Resources during the financial year were:

• J L C Jones (Executive Chairman)

• K K Nilsson (Managing Director)

• D E Clarke (Non-Executive)

• P A K Naylor (Non-Executive).

The Remuneration Committee (which is composed of Non-Executive Directors only) reviews the remuneration packages

of all specified Executive Directors and specified executives on an annual basis and makes recommendations to the

Board. Remuneration packages are reviewed and determined with due regard to current market rates and are

benchmarked against comparable industry salaries, adjusted by a performance factor to reflect changes in the

performance of the Company. The Executive Directors review the remuneration package of the Non-Executive Directors.
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25. Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives Continued

Primary Post-Employment Equity

Cash Other Non-

2005 Salary Cash Cash Monetary Super- Retirement

Name & Fees Bonus (c) Benefits (d) Benefits (a) annuation Benefits Options Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

J L C Jones 307,733 60,000 40,000 2,611 27,696 - - 438,040

K K Nilsson 271,762 60,000 - 12,232 24,459 - - 368,453

P A K Naylor 50,000 - - - 4,500 - - 54,500

D E Clarke 81,950 (b) - - - 4,500 - - 86,450

Total 711,445 120,000 40,000 14,843 61,155 - - 947,443

Primary Post-Employment Equity

Cash Other Non-

2004 Salary Cash Cash Monetary Super- Retirement

Name & Fees Bonus Benefits (d) Benefits (a) annuation Benefits Options Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

J L C Jones 266,483 50,000 40,000 958 28,483 - - 385,924

K K Nilsson 249,776 50,000 - 15,367 25,028 - - 340,171

P A K Naylor 40,000 - - - 3,600 - - 43,600

D E Clarke 40,000 - - - 3,600 - - 43,600

Total 596,259 100,000 40,000 16,325 60,711 - - 813,295

(a) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as travel and the provision of fully maintained motor vehicles and fuel expenses. The amounts

include amounts paid for Fringe Benefits Tax, where applicable. 

(b) Includes an amount of $31,950 paid to a Director related entity for consulting services provided to the Entity.

(c) Messrs J L C Jones and K K Nilsson were granted a cash bonus of $60,000 each in the 2004/05 year, following a review by the Remuneration

Committee. The bonus was referable to the record level of gold production and profit of the Entity achieved during the year.

(d) Mr J L C Jones receives a motor vehicle allowance of $40,000 per annum.

The specified executives of Troy Resources (in addition to Executive Directors) during the financial year were:

• G E Cheong (Registered Mine Manager)

• G F Kaczmarek (Company Secretary and Financial Controller)

• L J Skotsch (Manager Exploration)

• S W Jones (Site Project Manager – Lords)

• G K Brennan (Senior Mine Geologist and Mine Superintendent)

Primary Post-Employment Equity

Cash Other Non-

2005 Salary Cash Cash Monetary Super Retirement

Name & Fees Bonus Benefits Benefits (a) -annuation Benefits Options (b) Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

G E Cheong (c) 169,565 - - - 15,261 - - 184,826

G F Kaczmarek (c) 156,000 - - 35,292 14,040 - 18,660 223,992

L J Skotsch (c) 147,000 - - 15,579 13,230 - 16,361 192,170

S W Jones (c) 144,714 - - - 13,024 - - 157,738

G K Brennan (c) 144,670 - - - 13,020 - - 157,690

Total 761,949 - - 50,871 68,575 - 35,021 916,416



Primary Post-Employment Equity

Cash Other Non-

2004 Salary Cash Cash Monetary Super Retirement

Name & Fees Bonus Benefits Benefits (a) -annuation Benefits Options (b) Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

G E Cheong (c) 150,200 - - - 13,518 - 165 163,883

G F Kaczmarek (c) 146,807 - - 38,704 13,213 - 40,965 239,689

L J Skotsch (c) 152,000 - - 15,579 13,680 - 28,842 210,101

S W Jones (c) 131,909 - - - 11,872 - 165 143,946

G K Brennan (c) 129,670 - - - 11,670 - 165 141,505

Total 710,586 - - 54,283 63,953 - 70,302 899,124

(a) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as travel and the provision of fully maintained motor vehicles and fuel expenses. The amounts

include amounts paid for Fringe Benefits Tax, where applicable. 

(b) Options are valued using the Binomial Option Pricing Model.

(c) Mr Cheong, Mr S W Jones and Mr Brennan were granted employee share options on 17 August 2000. Mr Skotsch was granted employee

share options on 21 November 2001 and 29 August 2003. Mr Kaczmarek was granted employee share options on 18 August 2002 and 29

August 2003. All the above employee share options were granted under the terms of the Troy Resources NL Employee Share Option

Scheme. Further details of the plan are contained in Note 29 to the Financial Statements. Further information on movements in employee

options granted to specified executives are contained in Note 28.

26. TERMINATION BENEFITS
The Company has no contingent liability for termination benefits under service agreements with Directors or persons

who take part in the management of the Company, at balance date.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($) ($) ($) ($)

27. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

(a) Paid or Payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
in Australia:
Audit of the financial report 68,750 61,000 68,750 54,000

Other services 10,000 - 10,000 -

78,750 61,000 78,750 54,000

(b) Paid or Payable to overseas associates 
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu:
Audit of the financial report 53,128 18,638 - -

Other services 12,530 - - -

65,658 18,638 - -

144,408 79,638 78,750 54,000

No other benefits were received by the Auditor.
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28. RELATED PARTIES

(a) Controlled Entities
The ultimate parent entity of the group is Troy Resources NL. Since 30 September 1999, no interest or management fees

have been charged to other wholly-owned group companies except those incorporated in Brazil which are classified as

self-sustaining entities. 

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in controlled entities are disclosed in Note 33 to the Financial

Statements.

Details of interests in joint ventures are disclosed in Note 35 to the Financial Statements.

Controlled entity transactions and balances included in the Financial Statements (in the notes as referenced) are as

follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Custom milling fee - - 7,478 8,778

Interest received or due 2 - - - 89

Other fees and charges - - (170) 172

Non-current receivables - - - -

Non-current payables 16 - - 77 978

Dividends received or due - - 25,253 17,440

Current receivables 6 - - 160 3,191

Troy Resources NL owns and operates the Sandstone Mill. Under a Custom Milling Agreement, Troy charges its wholly

owned subsidiary, Wirraminna Gold NL, a fee for its share of ore milled from the Bulchina Mine, which is a 40:60 Joint

Venture between the parties.

(b) Directors and Specified Executives
The aggregate amount of remuneration received by specified directors and specified executives of Troy Resources NL is

disclosed in Note 25.

Aggregate numbers of fully paid and partly paid shares and share options of Troy Resources NL held directly, indirectly or

beneficially by Directors and Specified Executives or their related entities at balance date is:

(i) Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Troy Resources NL:

Balance at Granted as Received on Net Other Balance at Balance Held 

1.7.04 Remuneration Exercise of Options Change 30.6.05 Nominally

No. No. No. No. No. No.

Specified Directors

J L C Jones 8,520,909 - - 62,300 8,583,209 7,664,209

K K Nilsson 240,000 - - (80,000) 160,000 -

P A K Naylor 266,100 - - (24,421) 241,679 30,600

D E Clarke 310,000 - - - 310,000 -

Specified Executives

G E Cheong 15,000 - - (8,500) 6,500 -

G F Kaczmarek 110,000 - 50,000 (30,000) 130,000 -

S W Jones 30,000 - - - 30,000 -

L J Skotsch 20,000 - 70,000 (30,000) 60,000 -

G K Brennan 15,000 - - (9,131) 5,869 -

9,527,009 - 120,000 (119,752) 9,527,257 7,694,809

N o t e s  t o  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s CONTINUED



(ii) Partly paid ordinary shares issued by Troy Resources NL:

Balance at Granted as Received on Net Other Balance at Balance Held 

1.7.04 Remuneration Exercise of Options Change 30.6.05 Nominally

No. No. No. No. No. No.

Specified Directors

J L C Jones 1,863,225 - - 32,800 1,896,025 1,792,225

K K Nilsson - - - - - -

P A K Naylor 115,400 - - - 115,400 34,400

D E Clarke - - - - - -

Specified Executives

G E Cheong - - - - - -

G F Kaczmarek - - - - - -

S W Jones - - - - - -

L J Skotsch - - - - - -

G K Brennan - - - - - -

1,978,625 - - 32,800 2,011,425 1,826,625

(iii) Executive Share Options issued by Troy Resources NL:

Granted Balance Vested Vested Options

Balance as Exer- Balance Vested but not and Vested

at Remun Exer- cised Other at at Exercise- Exercise- during 

1.7.04 eration cised Price Change 30.6.05 30.6.05 able able Year

No. No. No. ($) No. No. No. No. No. No.

Specified Directors

J L C Jones - - - - - - - - - -

K K Nilsson - - - - - - - - - -

P A K Naylor - - - - - - - - - -

D E Clarke - - - - - - - - - -

Specified Executives

G E Cheong - - - - - - - - - -

G F Kaczmarek 200,000 - 50,000 1.45 - 150,000 34,000 - 34,000 84,000

S W Jones - - - - - - - - - -

L J Skotsch 130,000 - 70,000 1.12 - 60,000 - - - 50,000

G K Brennan - - - - - - - - - -

330,000 - 120,000 - - 210,000 34,000 - 34,000 134,000

There were no employee share options issued to specified directors during the year. All employee share options issued

to specified executives during the financial year were made in accordance with the provisions of the Troy Resources NL

Employee Share Option Scheme. 

Each share option converts into one ordinary share in Troy Resources NL on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by

the recipient on the grant or vesting of the option. 

During the year, 120,000 options were exercised by specified directors and executives for 120,000 ordinary shares in Troy

Resources NL. No amounts remain unpaid on the options exercised during the financial year. No share options were

granted to Directors or specified executives during the year.

Further details of the Troy Resources NL Employee Share Option Scheme are contained in Note 29 and details of the

remuneration of specified directors and specified executives are contained in Note 25 to the Financial Statements.
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N o t e s  t o  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s CONTINUED

28. Related Parties Continued

(c) Other Related Party Transactions:
(i) Mr J L C Jones

Mr J L C Jones, the Executive Chairman, is a director of and related to a number of director-related entities, where

he has significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities, which entered into various

commercial transactions with the Company.

The terms and conditions of these transactions with those director-related entities were no more favourable than

those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-director-

related entities on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to those director-related entities were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Transaction description:

Contract labour - - - -

Office rental and associated costs 223,288 97,590 223,288 97,590

Material handling contracts at mine site 1,098,858 4,645,182 1,098,858 4,645,181

Sale of diesel fuel for mine site contracts (346,903) (873,911) (346,903) (873,911)

Other miscellaneous services - 940 - 940

Accommodation provided overseas - 11,272 - -

Consulting Fees 68,600 - 68,600 -

(ii) Mr P A K Naylor

Mr P A K Naylor, a Non-Executive Director, is also an employee of a major broking firm, which has performed

certain service transactions by contract for the Company.

The terms and conditions of these transactions with that director-related entity were no more favourable than those

available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-director-related

entities on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to that director-related entity were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Transaction description:

Brokerage fees 10,907 3,708 10,907 3,708

(iii) Dr D E Clarke

Dr D E Clarke, a Non-Executive Director, was engaged by the Company to perform consulting work.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year were as follows:

Transaction description:

Consulting fees 31,950 - 31,950 -

This amount has been included as part of Dr Clarke’s Primary Remuneration as Fees in the Directors’ Report and in

Note 25 to the Accounts.

(iv) Aminta Pty Ltd

Mr J L C Jones is a director of Aminta Pty Ltd, a company which has entered into several joint venture agreements with

the Company to explore certain mineral leases. Details of interests in these joint ventures are included in Note 35.



29. OPTIONS TO SUBSCRIBE FOR SHARES
The Employee Share Option Scheme was approved at an Annual General Meeting on 19 November 1993 and amended

at the Annual General Meetings of 24 October 1996 and 23 November 1998.

Options issued under the Scheme are issued on the following terms:

(a) to employees or Directors of the Company or any Associated Body Corporate;

(b) the number of options outstanding and shares issued under the Plan in the last five years cannot exceed 7% of

issued shares;

(c) issue cost is nil;

(d) the exercise price shall be the greater of 20 cents and 80% of the weighted average price for all shares in the

Company traded on the ASX during the five trading days preceding the date of the offer of options;

(e) each grant of options is split into three approximately equal portions. The first third vests on the first anniversary of

the grant date, the second third on the second anniversary of the grant date and the final third on the third

anniversary of the grant date. All options expire on the fourth anniversary of the grant date;

(f) options carry no voting rights, and no rights to dividends;

(g) options may be exercised at any time from the date on which they vest to the expiry date;

(h) options expire when the option holder ceases to be employed by the Company unless the Directors, in their sole

discretion due to extenuating circumstances, determine otherwise; and options are issued at the discretion of the

Directors who take into account the length of service of the recipient.

During the year, no options were issued to Directors of the Company.

In the table below, fair value of consideration received is measured as the nominal value of cash receipts on conversion.

The fair value of shares at the date of their issue is measured as the weighted average price for all shares in the

Company traded on the ASX during the five trading days preceding the date of their grant.

The difference between the total market value of options issued during a financial year, at the date of issue, and the total

amount received under the Scheme is not recognised in the Financial Statements except for the purposes of

determining Directors’ and executives’ remuneration in respect of that financial year as disclosed in Note 25 to the

Financial Statements. The amounts are disclosed in remuneration in respect of the financial year over which the

entitlement was earned.

Consideration received on the exercise of employee options is recognised in contributed equity. During the financial year

$264,730 (2004: $255,770) was recognised in contributed equity arising from the exercise of employee options.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 5 55



56 T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L

N o t e s  t o  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s CONTINUED

29. Options to Subscribe for Shares Continued

EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION PLAN
2005 YEAR

Balance Number Number Fair Value Number Out- Number

Month at of Exercised Proceeds on Date Lapsed/ standing Vested at

of Beginning Options Current Exercise Exercise Received of Exercise Cancelled at Balance Balance Exercise Expiry

Issue Of Year Issued Year Date Price ($) ($) During Year Date Date Period Date

Feb 2005 - 180,000 - - $2.45 - - - 180,000 - Feb 2006- 25 Feb
Feb 2009 2009

Jun 2004 37,500 - - - $2.23 - - - 37,500 12,500 Jun 2005- 7 Jun 
Jun 2008 2008

Mar 2004 100,000 - - - $2.15 - - - 100,000 34,000 Mar 2005- 16 Mar
Mar 2008 2008

Aug 2003 247,000 - 10,000 26 Oct 2004 $1.52 15,200 29,910 - 207,000 43,000 Aug 2004- 29 Aug
30,000 2 Nov 2004 $1.52 45,600 93,570 Aug 2007 2007

Aug 2002 209,000 - 50,000 29 Nov 2004 $1.45 72,500 185,000 6,000 126,000 33,000 Aug 2003- 10 Aug
10,000 30 Sept 2004 $1.45 14,500 29,350 Aug 2006 2006
10,000 26 Oct 2004 $1.45 14,500 29,910
7,000 19 Aug 2004 $1.45 10,150 18,886

Nov 2001 45,000 - 20,000 30 Aug 2004 $0.82 16,400 54,120 - - - Nov 2002- 21 Nov
20,000 29 Nov 2004 $0.82 16,400 74,000 Nov 2005 2005
5,000 8 Dec 2004 $0.82 4,100 16,750

Jun 2001 80,000 - 60,000 7 July 2004 $0.52 31,200 173,940 - - - Jun 2002- 20 Jun 
20,000 29 July 2004 $0.52 10,400 54,000 Jun 2005 2005

Aug 2000 26,500 - 1,500 7 July 2004 $0.52 780 4,349 - - - Aug 2001- 17 Aug 
25,000 19 Aug 2004 $0.52 13,000 67,450 Aug 2004 2004

745,000 180,000 268,500 264,730 831,235 6,000 650,500



2004 YEAR
Balance Number Number Fair Value Number Out Number

Month at of Exercised Proceeds on Date Lapsed/ standing Vested at

of Beginning Options Current Exercise Exercise Received of Exercise Cancelled at Balance Balance Exercise Expiry

Issue Of Year Issued Year Date Price ($) ($) During Year Date Date Period Date

June 2004 - 37,500 - - $2.23 - - - 37,500 - June 2005- 7 June
June 2008 2008

Mar 2004 - 100,000 - - $2.15 - - - 100,000 - March 2005- 16 March
March 2008 2008

Aug 2003 - 277,000 - - $1.52 - - 30,000 247,000 - Aug 2004- 29 Aug
Aug 2007 2007

Aug 2002 330,000 - 50,000 8 Oct 2003 $1.45 72,500 90,500 20,000 209,000 10,000 Aug 2003- 10 Aug
10,000 15 Oct 2003 $1.45 14,500 18,100 Aug 2006 2006
10,000 1 Mar 2004 $1.45 14,500 18,100
17,000 5 Mar 2004 $1.45 24,650 30,770
14,000 11 Mar 2004 $1.45 20,300 25,340

Nov 2001 50,000 - 5,000 1 Mar 2004 $0.82 4,100 5,150 - 45,000 20,000 Nov 2002 - 21 Nov
Nov 2005 2005

Jun 2001 80,000 - - - $0.52 - - - 80,000 80,000 Jun 2002- 20 Jun
Jun 2005 2005

Aug 2000 157,000 - 15,000 14 Aug 2003 $0.52 7,800 9,750 7,000 26,500 26,500 Aug 2001- 17 Aug
10,000 25 Aug 2003 $0.52 5,200 6,500 Aug 2004 2004
1,500 2 Sep 2003 $0.52 780 975
1,500 11 Sept 2003 $0.52 780 975
3,000 27 Aug 2003 $0.52 1,560 1,950

16,500 19 Sept 2003 $0.52 8,580 10,725
3,000 3 Oct 2003 $0.52 1,560 1,950
5,350 8 Oct 2003 $0.52 2,782 3,478
5,000 10 Oct 2003 $0.52 2,600 3,250
1,500 15 Oct 2003 $0.52 780 975

16,500 5 Nov 2003 $0.52 8,580 10,725
22,000 18 Nov 2003 $0.52 11,440 14,300
10,000 22 Dec 2003 $0.52 5,200 6,500
3,000 12 Feb 2004 $0.52 1,560 1,950
3,150 22 Mar 2004 $0.52 1,638 2,048
1,500 19 Apr 2004 $0.52 780 975
5,000 10 May 2004 $0.52 2,600 3,250

May 2000 100,000 - 100,000 8 Sep 2003 $0.41 41,000 51,000 - - - May 2001 - 31 May 
May 2004 2004

717,000 414,500 329,500 255,770 319,236 57,000 745,000

Transaction summary:
2005 2004

No. No.

Balance at beginning of year 745,000 717,000

Granted during the year 180,000 414,500

Exercised during the year (268,500) (329,500)

Lapsed during the year (6,000) (57,000)

Balance at end of year 650,500 745,000
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N o t e s  t o  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s CONTINUED

30. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Consolidated Entity is involved in only one industry, namely mining and exploration with activities in Australia, South

America, Asia and Europe during the year.

SEGMENT Australia Asia South America Europe Elimination Consolidated

INFORMATION: 

GEOGRAPHIC 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

SEGMENT ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

REVENUE
External sales 13,988 34,682 - - 28,457 35,156 - - - 172 42,445 70,010
Other revenue 25,251 9,940 - - - - - - (25,251) (9,940) - -
Inter-segment 
sales - 172 - - - - - - - (172) - -
Share of net 
profit of equity 
accounted 
investment - - - - - - - - - - - -
Total segment 
revenue 39,239 44,794 - - 28,457 35,156 - - (25,251) (9,940) 42,445 70,010
Unallocated 
revenue 14,178 17,739
Total 
consolidated 
revenue 56,623 87,749
RESULTS
Segment 
results 15,647 (2,924) (773) (400) 20,272 24,882 (178) (81) (17,868) (1,804) 17,100 19,673
Unallocated 
expenses (634) 3,089
Consolidated 
Entity profit 
before income 
tax 16,466 22,762
Income tax 
expense / (Benefit) 1,900 (209)
Consolidated 
Entity profit 
from ordinary 
activities 14,566 22,971
Extraordinary item -
Net profit 14,566 22,971
ASSETS
Segment assets 48,076 30,589 162 92 7,562 17,013 299 257 (7,608) (9,490) 48,491 38,461
Unallocated 
assets 10,818 9,750
Total assets 59,309 48,211
LIABILITIES
Segment 
liabilities 6,470 4,352 3,036 2,474 2,967 3,410 760 570 (5,573) (7,013) 7,660 3,793
Unallocated 
liabilities 5,341 2,531
Total liabilities 13,001 6,324
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
Equity accounted 
investments included 
in segment assets - - - - - -
Acquisition of 
property, plant 
and equipment, 
intangible assets 
and other 
non-current assets 9,004 2,988 380 6 3,619 2,519 141 24 458 - 13,602 5,537
Depreciation 453 669 13 12 4,728 1,925 - - 578 64 5,772 2,670
Amortisation 475 1,601 - - 2,276 4,899 - - - 81 2,751 6,581
Non-cash expenses 
other than 
depreciation 
& amortisation 266 496 (9) 35 301 1,080 14 - (124) - 448 1,661



31. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

(a) Exploration Commitments

The Consolidated Entity has minimum statutory commitments as conditions of tenure of certain mining tenements. In

addition it has commitments to perform and expend funds towards retaining an interest in formalised agreements with

joint venture and prospective joint venture partners. Whilst these obligations may vary, the following is considered to be

a reasonable estimate of the minimum commitment projected to 30 June 2006 if it is to retain all of its present interests

in mining and exploration properties, within the context of existing joint ventures.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Due within 12 months 3,623 3,422 2,906 2,410

Due between 1 and 5 years 2,550 3,159 2,550 3,159

Includes: joint venture commitments

Due within 12 months 1,518 810 1,174 810

Due between 1 and 5 years 2,550 3,159 2,550 3,159

(b) Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments contracted for as at the reporting date:

Due within 12 months 197 25 - 25

Includes: Joint venture commitments - 25 - 25

The economic entity is obliged to spend money on mining areas to ensure sufficient rehabilitation of vegetation to satisfy

the requirements under various government Mining Acts and Regulations. This expenditure is provided for in the

Financial Statements in accordance with accounting policy and detailed in Note 15.

The economic entity has given securities in the form of bank guarantees and sureties with various state government

mining departments to meet commitments for rehabilitation. (Refer Note 32.)

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities other than:

(a) Bank Guarantees provided by financial institutions given to various State Departments of Mines and Energy and

joint venture partners to a total value of $1,792,065 (2004: $1,066,940). These are security amounts against breach

of environmental conditions and are not expected to be exercised in the normal course of business. Of these

amounts $481,940 (2004: $805,940) relates to Joint Venture activities; and

(b) General sureties given to various State Departments of Mines and Energy to a total value of $188,500 (2004:

$218,000). These are security amounts against breach of environmental conditions and are not expected to be

exercised in the normal course of business. Of these amounts $30,000 (2004: $61,000) relates to Joint Venture

activities outside the consolidated group.

(c) Please refer to Note 36(b) re tax claim from the Goiás State Tax Department in Brazil.
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N o t e s  t o  t h e  F i n a n c i a l  S t a t e m e n t s CONTINUED

33. CONTROLLED ENTITIES
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the following controlled entities:

COUNTRY OF OWNERSHIP INTEREST

INCORPORATION 2005: % 2004: %

Parent Entity:

Troy Resources NL Australia

Controlled Entities:

Wirraminna Gold NL Australia 100 100

Troy Mongolia Alt Resources Mongolia 100 100

Ord Resources Ltd United Kingdom 100 100

• Ord Resources Finland Oy Finland 100 100

• Ord Resources GmbH Austria 100 100

Troy Resources Brasil Participações Ltda Brazil 100 100

• Troy Resources Goiás Ltda Brazil 0 100

– Sertão Mineração Ltda Brazil 70 70

Troy Brasil Exploração Mineral Ltda Brazil 100 100

34. DISPOSAL OF CONTROLLED ENTITIES
During the year, a wholly owned subsidiary, Troy Resources Goiás Ltda, a company incorporated in Brazil, was merged

into its parent entity, Troy Resources Brasil Participações Ltda, which is also a wholly owned group entity incorporated in

Brazil. There was no gain or loss on the merger of the entities which was initiated to simplify the Consolidated Entity’s

corporate structure.

35. JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS
The Consolidated Entity has interests in the following joint ventures:

PERCENTAGE INTEREST

Joint Venture Principal Activities 2005 2004

Blackman’s Exploration 22.5 22.5

Bullfinch Copperhead Exploration 49 49

Bullfinch South(1) Exploration 57 57

Cornishman Production 49 49

Edale Exploration 100 60

Sandstone - Herald Exploration 100 60

Mt Magnet Road Exploration 90 51

Musgrave Range Exploration 50 50

Pilot Prospect(1) Exploration 56 56

Pilot South(1) Exploration 74 74

Trojan Exploration (earning 60%) - -

Yule River Exploration (earning 70%) - -

Three Rivers Exploration (diluting) 100 100

(1) Joint Venture in which Aminta Pty Ltd has an interest. (Refer Note 28(c)(iv).)



The joint ventures are not separate legal entities. They are contractual arrangements between the participants for the

sharing of costs and output and do not in themselves generate revenue and profit.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

The activities of the joint ventures

included in the Company's results are:

Revenue 2,574 16,194 7,112 23,619

Share of costs incurred by joint venture (3,293) (19,094) (6,861) (24,635)

Additional costs incurred by the Company (41) (566) (268) (894)

Net contribution/(cost) (760) (3,466) (17) (1,910)

The Company’s direct and indirect interests in the mining

joint venture net assets as summarised below are included

in the corresponding Statement of Financial Position items.

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventory - 1,681 178 1,931

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Plant and equipment - - - 92

Mine development property - 437 - 459

- 437 - 551

TOTAL ASSETS - 2,118 178 2,482

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Creditors 630 - 630 -

Provisions - rehabilitation - 24 48 173

TOTAL LIABILITIES 630 24 678 173

NET ASSETS (630) 2,094 (500) 2,309

Troy Resources NL and its wholly owned subsidiary, Wirraminna Gold NL, are in a 40:60 joint venture with each other at

the Bulchina Mine. As this is fully internal, there is no joint venture for consolidation purposes. Accordingly, the assets

and liabilities of the joint venture are not included in the note disclosure above for the Consolidated Entity.
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36. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER BALANCE DATE
(a) Subsequent to 30 June 2005 the Directors declared a dividend of 6.5 cents per share, fully franked. The dividend is

payable on both the fully paid and partly paid shares as the latter carries a full dividend entitlement. The record date for

the dividend will be 30 September 2005 and will be paid on 14 October 2005. As at 30 June 2005, there was a combined

total of 55,270,739 fully and partly paid shares on issue giving an estimated dividend of $3,593,000. The actual number of

shares and gross dividend payment will be different if additional shares are issued or cancelled before the record date.

The financial effect of this dividend is not reflected in the Financial Statements as at 30 June 2005.

(b) On 7 September 2005, Sertão Mineração Ltda (“SML”), Troy’s 70% owned Brazilian subsidiary and operator of the Sertão

gold mine, received a demand for R$7.5 million, including penalties (approximately A$4.178 million), from the Goiás

State Tax Department. 

The demand alleges that SML did not provide adequate documentation of gold shipments from the project and that

therefore State taxes have not been fully paid. Similar demands have been sent to two other gold mining companies in

Goiás State.

The Company is investigating the demand. Investigative work done to date indicates that the demand has no valid basis

and that SML is not liable for the amount being claimed.

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Significant Accounting Policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of

measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, are disclosed in Note 1 to the Financial

Statements.

(b) Objectives of Derivative Financial Instruments
The Consolidated Entity enters into derivative financial instruments from time to time in the normal course of business in

order to hedge its exposure to fluctuations in the Australian dollar/US dollar gold price, and Australian dollar/US dollar

exchange rate. The Consolidated Entity does not enter into or trade derivative financial instruments for speculative

purposes.

(c) Gold and Foreign Currency Hedging Contracts
As at 30 June 2005, the Consolidated Entity had no outstanding gold or foreign currency hedging contracts.  There were

no hedging contracts outstanding as at 30 June 2004 either. The Consolidated Entity’s policy allows it to hedge a portion

of expected gold production to secure its mining operations where and when it is deemed appropriate by the Board of

Directors to do so.

(d) Credit Risk Exposures
The credit risk on financial assets of the Consolidated Entity which have been recognised on the Statement of Financial

Position, other than investment in shares, is generally the carrying amount, net of any allowances for doubtful debts.

Equity investments which are traded on organised stock markets will vary with market movements. For off-balance sheet

financial instruments which are deliverable, including gold hedging, credit risk also arises from the potential failure of

counterparties to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at maturity.

The Consolidated Entity has an exposure to gain or loss in the event counterparties fail to settle on contracts with the

Consolidated Entity. At 30 June 2005, the Consolidated Entity had no exposure or commitments to any counterparty. At

30 June 2004, there was also no exposure to any hedging counterparty.

(e) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class of

financial assets and financial liabilities is set out below. Exposure mainly arises from assets and liabilities bearing variable

interest rates.



Floating 1 Year Over More than Non-interest 

Interest Rate or Less 1-5 Years 5 Years Bearing Total

2005 Notes ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Financial Assets

Cash 38(a) 25,971 1,850 - - - 27,821

Receivables 6 - - - - 2,850 2,850

Other Financial Assets 7 - - - - 4,066 4,066

Other 10 - - - - - -

Total 25,971 1,850 - - 6,916 34,737

Weighted Average Interest Rate

Cash at bank Range: 0.01% to 5.45% p.a. depending on bank balance

Cash at deposit A$ 5.53% p.a. 5.195% p.a. - - - -

Cash on deposit US$ 2.25% p.a.

Financial Liabilities

Payables 13 - - - - 6,674 6,674

Employee Entitlements 17 - - - - 1,720 1,720

Dividend 15 - - - - 93 93

Other 15 - - - - 549 549

Total - - - - 9,036 9,036

Weighted Average Interest Rate

A$ Loans % - - -

US$ Loans % - - -

Net Financial 

Assets (Liabilities) 25,971 1,850 - - (2,120) 25,701

Floating 1 Year Over More than Non-interest 

Interest Rate or Less 1-5 Years 5 Years Bearing Total

2004 Notes ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Financial Assets

Cash 38(a) 23,315 1,200 - - - 24,515

Receivables 6 - - - - 4,796 4,796

Other Financial Assets 7 - - - - 1,448 1,448

Other 10 - - - - 2 2

Total 23,315 1,200 - - 6,246 30,761

Weighted Average Interest Rate

Cash at bank Range: 0.01% to 5.43% p.a. depending on bank balance and account type.

Cash at deposit A$ 5.097% p.a. 5.137% p.a. - - - -

Cash on deposit US$ Range: 0% to 23.976% p.a. depending on bank balance and account type.

Financial Liabilities

Payables 13 - - - - 3,475 3,475

Employee Entitlements 17 - - - - 1,505 1,505

Dividend 15 - - - - 89 89

Other 15 - - - - 510 510

Total - - - - 5,579 5,579

Weighted Average Interest Rate

A$ Loans % - - - - -

US$ Loans % - - - - -

Net Financial 

Assets (Liabilities) 23,315 1,200 - - 667 25,182
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37. Financial Instruments Continued

(f) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the Financial Statements represents their

respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 to the Accounts.

The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and interest and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and

financial liabilities approximates their carrying value.

The net fair value of listed investments is disclosed at Note 7.

At 30 June 2005, inventories include 3,516 ounces of refined gold bullion. This bullion is valued in the Financial

Statements at cost of $1,360,000 (refer Note 8). This inventory would have had a market value of A$2,013,000 based on a

gold spot price of A$572.53 per ounce.

38.

(a) Reconciliation Of Cash
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in interest

bearing deposits. Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the

related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Cash at bank 2,270 1,788 2,270 1,788

Cash at bank - overseas 6,607 11,559 - -

Interest bearing deposits at call(1) 18,944 11,168 18,944 11,168

27,821 24,515 21,214 12,956

(1) Including restricted cash of $1,850,065 held as security deposits.

(b) Reconciliation of Net Cash Used in Operating Activities to Net Profit after Income Tax

Operating profit/(loss) after income tax 14,566 22,971 21,336 10,951

Depreciation 5,772 2,670 453 669

(Profit)/loss on sale of non-current assets (8) 2 (8) 240

Recoverable amount write-down

of investments - non-related party 110 60 110 60

Recoverable amount write-down of

loans – controlled entity - - 640 995

Profit on sale of investment securities 80 (172) 80 (172)

Provisions – other 255 1,551 420 436

Evaluation expenditure written off 401 - - -

Amortisation 2,751 6,581 475 1,307

Increase/(decrease) in income tax balances 294 (3,396) (900) (2,497) 

Recoverable amount of foreign exchange 

write down 565 - 88 -

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in current receivables 1,946 (453) 1,401 9,004

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 286 7,749 279 6,508

Increase/(decrease) in payables 3,199 (4,743) 2,413 (3,737)

(Increase)/decrease in other assets - (267) - -

Net cash generated by operating activities 30,217 32,553 26,787 23,764



(c) Financing Facilities
As at 30 June 2005, neither the Company nor any member of the economic entity has any facilities with any bank or

other financial institution.

(d) Non-Cash Transactions
During the year Troy issued 300,000 shares for a total of $763,000 for the purchase of mining tenements.

39. IMPACTS OF ADOPTING THE AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
Troy Resources NL is in the process of transitioning its accounting and financial reporting from current Australian

Accounting Standards (“AGAAP”) to Australian equivalents of International Financial Reporting Standards (“AIFRS”)

which will be applicable for the financial year ending 30 June 2006.

The Company has engaged expert assistance and has completed a Business Impact Study to identify key areas that will

be impacted by the transition to AIFRS. Following the Impact Study, the Company has also completed a Transition Paper

which has identified the specific areas which are currently being reviewed by the Company under AIFRS.

Set out below are the key areas where accounting policies are expected to change on adoption of AIFRS and our

discussion of the impact of the changes on the reporting entity. The Company has not finalised the quantitative impact

of the changes at this time, but expects to make an announcement in accordance with ASX Continuous Disclosure

requirements as soon as the changes are available.

(a) First-time Adoption of AIFRS
On first-time adoption of AIFRS, the Consolidated Entity will be required to restate its comparative balance sheet

such that the comparative balances presented comply with the requirements specified in the AIFRS. That is, the

balances that will be presented in the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2005 may not be the balances

that will be presented as comparative numbers in the financial report for the following year, as a result of the

requirement to retrospectively apply the AIFRS. In addition, certain assets and liabilities may not qualify for

recognition under AIFRS, and will need to be derecognised. As most adjustments on first-time adoption are to be

made against opening retained earnings, the amount of retained earnings at 30 June 2004 presented in the 2005

financial report and the 2006 financial report available to be paid out as dividends may differ significantly.

(b) Share-based Payment
Under AASB 2 Share Based Payments, the Company will be required to determine the fair value of options issued

to employees as remuneration and recognise an expense in the Statement of Financial Performance. It applies to

all options issued after 7 November 2002 which have not vested as at 1 January 2005. Under the current AGAAP no

amounts are recognised in the financial accounts in relation to equity based compensation schemes.
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39. Impacts of Adopting the Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Continued

(c) Income Tax
In accordance with Australian Standard AASB 112 Income Taxes, deferred tax balances are determined using the

balance sheet method which calculates temporary differences based on the carrying amounts of the Company’s

and Consolidated Entity’s assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position and their associated tax bases.

This represents a fundamental change to the way the Company and Consolidated Entity currently calculates its tax

balances, where deferred tax balances are determined using the income statement method.

The Urgent Issues Group (UIG) finalised Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting in June 2005. This

interpretation will significantly change the method of accounting for tax consolidation by the Company (as head

entity in the tax-consolidated group) and its subsidiaries that are members of the tax-consolidated group. All

income tax expenses, revenues, assets and liabilities of the members of the tax-consolidated group are currently

recognised in the financial statements of the Company (as head entity).

Under Interpretation 1052, current and deferred tax of the tax-consolidated group will be allocated to the

members of the tax-consolidated group using an allocation method that is rational, systematic and consistent with

the broad principles of AASB 112 Income Taxes. The current tax liability (and tax losses and relevant other unused

tax credits) of the tax-consolidated group will then be assumed by the parent entity, which may give rise to

contributions by or distributions to equity participants, depending on the nature of any tax funding arrangement

between the entities in the tax-consolidated group.

There will be no impact from this change in accounting policy on the consolidated financial statements of the

Company. The Company is currently assessing the impact of Interpretation 1052 and has not yet finalised a

determination of what allocation method will be used and the form of any related tax funding arrangement. The

separate financial statements of the Company will change depending on the decisions ultimately made and so

cannot be fully determined at the date of this financial report. Changes in the carrying amounts of investments in

subsidiaries and/or dividend income may result from the final application of Interpretation 1052.

(d) Rehabilitation Provision
The treatment of environmental restoration and rehabilitation obligations under the AIFRS requirements will

require measurement of the provision as the present value of future rehabilitation expenditures. A corresponding

rehabilitation asset will also be required to be recognised at the commencement of disturbance activities, based

on a cost estimate of the disturbance to be created. The rehabilitation asset will be amortised to the profit and loss

account progressively. The ongoing charge to profit and loss will be reflected through this amortisation component

together with any specific charges arising through changes in the present value calculation over time. 

(e) Impairment of Assets
Under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, the recoverable amount of an asset is determined as the higher of fair

value less costs to sell and value in use. This will result in a change in the Company’s current accounting policy

which determines the recoverable amount of an asset on the basis of discounted cash flows. The Company is

progressing through its assessment of the recoverable amount of its assets under AIFRS.

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment
On initial adoption of AIFRS items of plant and equipment are measured at the AIFRS cost. The Directors, subject

to the requirements of AASB 136 (refer to (e) above), have not elected to use fair value or revaluation as deemed

cost to measure an item of property, plant and equipment.



(g) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Under AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources, exploration and evaluation expenditures will

be able to be continued to be assessed in line with Troy’s current accounting policy in respect of exploration and

evaluation expenditures which is to expense exploration activities as they are incurred. Development expenditures

will be assessed under AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment and AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. Other than

the impairment testing requirements previously noted, no significant changes to the current treatment of

development costs are anticipated to occur under the revised standard.

(h) Classification of Financial Instruments
The Directors have elected to apply the first-time adoption exemption available to the Company to defer the date

of transition of AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement to 1 July 2005. Accordingly, there are no quantitative impacts on the 30 June 2005

financial statements.

Under AIFRS, financial assets must be categorised as either at fair value through profit or loss, loans and

receivables, held-to-maturity, or as available-for-sale. Financial liabilities must be categorised as either at fair value

through profit or loss or as other financial liabilities.

The classification of the financial assets and financial liabilities determines the measurement basis, being fair value

or amortised cost, to be adopted from 1 July 2005. 

Under AIFRS, all derivative financial instruments are required to be recognised at fair value on the date of

transition. As at 30 June 2005, the Company has no foreign currency or gold hedging financial instruments.

(i) Revenue
Although not impacting upon the profit of the Company and Consolidated Entity, the adoption of AIFRS will result

in a number of transactions being recorded on a “net” rather than “gross” basis. In addition the adoption of AIFRS

results in the reclassification of proceeds from the sale of non-current assets from “revenue from ordinary activities”

to “other income and expense” items in the Statement of Financial Performance. This is a reclassification and will

not impact upon the profit and loss of the Company and Consolidated Entity.

40. ADDITIONAL COMPANY INFORMATION
Troy Resources NL is a public company, incorporated and operating in Australia, Asia, Europe and South America.

Registered Office Principal Place of Business

c/- McDonald Carter HPW Ground Floor

Level 6 44 Ord Street

31 Queen Street West Perth

Melbourne Western Australia 6005

Victoria 3000 Tel: (08) 9481 1277
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D i r e c t o r s ’  D e c l a r a t i o n

The Directors declare that:

1. In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the Financial Statements and notes of the Company and of the Consolidated Entity are in accordance with the

Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2005 and

of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) comply with the Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become

due and payable.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with

Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period ending 30 June 2005.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors of Troy Resources NL

D E CLARKE

Non-Executive Director

Perth, Western Australia

30 September 2005
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I n d e p e n d e n t  A u d i t  R e p o r t
to the members of Troy Resources N.L

Scope

The financial report and directors’ responsibility
The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of cash flows,

accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for both Troy Resources N.L. (the company) and

the consolidated entity, for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 as set out on pages 32 to 68. The consolidated entity

comprises the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial

year.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial report in

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records

and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting

estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach
We have conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the

company. Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable assurance

whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of

professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal controls, and the availability of persuasive rather

than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the financial report is presented fairly in

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting

requirements in Australia so as to present a view which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the

consolidated entity’s financial position, and performance as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows.

Our procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the

financial report, and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature

and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
A.C.N. 74 490 121 060

Woodside Plaza
Level 14
240 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
GPO Box A46
Perth WA 6837 Australia

DX 206
Tel: +61 (0) 8 9365 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 8 9365 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by the Accountants’ Scheme,
approved under the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW).
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Audit Opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of Troy Resources N.L. is in accordance with:

(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2005 and of

their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

KEITH F JONES

Partner

Chartered Accountants

Perth, 30 September 2005
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S h a r e h o l d e r s ’  S t a t i s t i c s  
at 30 september 2005

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

Ordinary Share Capital
• 49,097,187 fully paid ordinary shares held by 1,746 shareholders

• 6,248,552 partly paid ordinary shares (40 cents per share to be paid) held by 188 shareholders

• 875,500 employee options over ordinary shares held by 16 option holders

Each partly paid share currently holds 0.6 of a voting right and has full dividend entitlements.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Fully Paid Partly Paid Employee

Ordinary Ordinary Options

1 - 1,000 430 27 -

1,001 - 5,000 797 67 1

5,001 - 10,000 232 35 5

10,001 - 100,000 243 46 9

100,001 and over 44 13 1

1,746 188 16

Holding less than a marketable parcel: 209 3 N/A

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Ordinary Number Person’s Voting Power

Shareholder of Securities Votes Percentage

Warrigal Pty Ltd 9,494,606 8,789,532 16.91%

Henry A Clive 3,385,860 3,144,754 5.96%
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS as at 30 September 2005

FULLY PAID PARTLY PAID

Ordinary Shareholders Number Percentage Number Percentage

National Nominees Limited 8,066,263 16.43 740,877 11.86

Warrigal Pty Ltd 5,920,000 12.06 1,360,539 21.77

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 3,022,523 6.16 469,895 7.52

ANZ Nominees Limited (Cash Income A/C) 2,599,688 5.29 136,808 2.19

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 2,427,975 4.95

Bell Potter Nominees Ltd (BB Nominees A/C) 2,420,000 4.93 602,766 9.65

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 2,302,404 4.69

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd 1,529,942 3.12

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 668,416 1.36

Mr John Load Cecil Jones 608,000 1.24 103,800 1.66

Arinya Investments Pty Ltd 562,500 1.15 112,500 1.80

3723 Yukon Ltd 530,000 1.08 135,400 2.17

Strath Dee Pty Ltd 430,000 0.88 100,000 1.60

L J Thomson Pty Ltd 393,782 0.80 71,157 1.14

New Privateer Holdings Ltd 387,100 0.79

Hostyle Pty Ltd 386,940 0.79

Mr Bruce Clayton Bird 353,699 0.72

Ms Sara Jane Davenport 325,000 0.66

Mr John Load Cecil Jones 311,000 0.63

Mr Barton Cecil Jones 280,000 0.57

Chalcott Nominees Pty Ltd 120,000 1.92

Lifchem Pty Ltd 112,000 1.79

Jones Partners Pty Ltd 107,100 1.71

Bedel & Sowa Corp Pty Ltd 104,600 1.67

Second Naremi Pty Ltd 101,760 1.63

Mrs Betty Christine Steele 100,000 1.60

Mr Philip Alan Kenneth Naylor & Mrs Andrea Naylor 81,000 1.30

Perpetual Custodians Limited 81,000 1.30

Kajam Pty Limited 70,000 1.12

Mr Burchell Francis Jones 60,000 0.96

TOTAL TOP 20 33,525,232 68.28 4,771,202 76.36

S h a r e h o l d e r s ’  S t a t i s t i c s CONTINUED
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